

## The partial characterisation of the terpene synthase genes implicated in the defence response by *Pinus patula* and *Pinus tecunumanii* to *Fusarium circinatum*

by

## **Robyn Leigh Smith**

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree

## **Magister Scientiae**

In the Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences Department of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology University of Pretoria April 2020

> Supervisor: Prof. Sanushka Naidoo Co-supervisor: Prof. Martin Coetzee



### Declaration

I, Robyn Leigh Smith, declare that this dissertation, which I hereby submit for the degree *Magister Scientiae* at the University of Pretoria, is my own work and has not previously been submitted by me for a degree at this or any other tertiary institution.



Date: 20 April 2020



### **Table of Contents**

Declaration	i
Table of Contents	ii
List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	iv
List of Supplementary Tables	iv
List of Supplementary Figures	v
Abbreviations	v
Preface	vii

### **Chapter 1: Literature review**

The putative role of terpenes in defence against a fungal pathogen in pine seedlings	
1.1 Pinus spp. and the significance of Fusarium circinatum	3
1.1.1 Global consequences of Fusarium circinatum infection	3
1.1.2 Pinus patula in South Africa	4
1.1.3 Fusarium circinatum as a seedling wilt disease	5
1.2 Plant defence	6
1.2.1 Induced resistance	6
1.2.2 Plant secondary metabolites	7
1.2.3 Plant terpenes	8
Terpene biosynthesis and diversity	10
Terpenes in conifers	15
Prospects for metabolic engineering of terpenes	17
1.3 Conclusions	18
1.4 References	20

## Chapter 2

<i>In silico</i> characterisation of the terpene synthase genes in <i>Pinus patula</i> and <i>Pinus tecunumanii</i>	
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	46
2.3 Materials and methods	
2.3.1 Plant material and Fusarium circinatum infection trial	
2.3.2 RNA extraction and sequencing	
2.3.3 Identification of terpene synthase genes	
2.3.4 Differential terpene synthase gene expression	



2.4 Results	55
2.4.1 Fusarium circinatum infection trial	55
2.4.2 Putative terpene synthase gene identification	57
2.4.3 Defensive gene expression in <i>P. patula</i> and <i>P. tecunumanii</i>	60
2.5 Discussion	61
2.5.1 Comparative necrotic lesion development	
2.5.2 Defensive contribution of terpene synthase gene expression	63
2.5.3 Differential gene expression 3- and 7-days post infection (dpi)	64
2.6 Conclusion	66
2.7 Acknowledgements	66
2.8 References	67

## Chapter 3: Concluding remarks

3.1 Concluding remarks	79
3.2 Future work and significance	80
3.3 References	81

Supplementary Material	
Supplementary Table	85
Supplementary Figures	86



#### List of Tables

#### Chapter 1

**Table 1.1:** Function and taxonomic distribution of terpene synthase clades in plants, as defined by Chen et al. (2011).

#### Chapter 2

**Table 2.1:** Six-month-old *Pinus* seedlings used in the *F. circinatum* inoculation trial. Obtained from Dr. Nicky Jones (Sappi Forests, Shaw Research Centre, Howick, KZN). Counts post two-week acclimatisation period.

#### List of Figures

Chapter 1

Figure 1.1: The iso-, mono-, sesqui-, and diterpene biosynthetic pathways in conifers.

#### Chapter 2

**Figure 2.1:** Outline of infection trial of six-month-old *Pinus patula* and *Pinus tecunumanii* seedlings, either mock-inoculated (M) with sterile glycerol or inoculated (I) with *Fusarium circinatum* spores.

Figure 2.2: Summary of *in silico* annotation process of terpene synthase genes.

Figure 2.3: Comparative necrotic lesion lengths induced by *Fusarium circinatum* on inoculated *Pinus* seedlings.

**Figure 2.4:** Representative results of RNA integrity assessment of samples from *P*. *tecunumanii* and *P. patula* harvested at 5dpi.

**Figure 2.5:** The putative terpene synthase genes which are significantly differentially expressed and their partial characterisation by phylogenetic analysis.

**Figure 2.6:** Primary structures of putative alpha-farnesene synthase orthologs in *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii*.

#### **List of Supplementary Tables**

Table S1: Extended list of six-month-old Pinus seedlings



#### **List of Supplementary Figures**

Figure S1: Phylogenetic analysis of putative terpene synthases in numerous conifer spp.

Figure S2: Boxplots illustrating range of expression for putative terpene synthase genes.

### Abbreviations

aa	Amino acid
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
bp	Base pairs
BP	Biological process
BR	Biological replicate
BUSCO	Benchmarking Universal Single-Copy Orthologs
СК	Cytokinin
СРМ	Counts Per Million
CPS	Copalyl Synthase
DE	Differentially Expressed/ Differential Expression
Di-TPS	Diterpene synthase
DMAPP	Dimethylallyl diphosphate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dpi	days post inoculation
DXOP	Deoxyxylulose-5-phosphate
et al.	et alia
ETI	Effector triggered immunity
f. sp.	forma specialis
FABI	Forestry and Agricultural Biotechnology Institute
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FES	Forestry Economics Services
FMG	Forest Molecular Genetics
FPKM	Fragments per kilobase of transcript per million fragments mapped
FSA	Forestry South Africa
Gb	Gigabase
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GO	Gene ontology



GRI	Genomics Research Institute	
HMG-CoA	3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A	
HR	Hypersensitive response	
HSD	Honestly significant difference	
I / Inoc	Inoculated	
IPP	Isopentenyl diphosphate	
IspS	Isoprene synthase	
KEGG	Kyoto encyclopaedia of genes and genomes	
km	kilometers	
КО	Kegg orthology	
KS	Kaurene synthase	
LE	Low elevation	
LRR	Leucine-rich repeat	
MAMP	Microbe-associated molecular pattern	
MANOVA	Multivariate analysis of variance	
MEP	Methylerythritol-4-phosphate	
M / Mock	Mock-inoculated	
MonoTPS	Monoterpene synthase	
mRNA	Messenger RNA	
MVA	Mevalonic-acid	
NCBI	National centre for biotechnology information	
NGS	Next-Generation sequencing	
NGS NIFA	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture	
NGS NIFA NO	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide	
NGS NIFA NO NRF	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s)	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt PAMP	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s) Pathogen-associated molecular pattern	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt PAMP PCR	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s) Pathogen-associated molecular pattern Polymerase chain reaction	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt PAMP PCR PDA	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s) Pathogen-associated molecular pattern Polymerase chain reaction Potato Dextrose Agar	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt PAMP PCR PDA PE	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s) Pathogen-associated molecular pattern Polymerase chain reaction Potato Dextrose Agar Paired-end	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt PAMP PCR PDA PE Pipt	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s) Pathogen-associated molecular pattern Polymerase chain reaction Potato Dextrose Agar Paired-end <i>Pinus patula</i>	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt PAMP PCR PDA PE Pipt Pnte	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s) Pathogen-associated molecular pattern Polymerase chain reaction Potato Dextrose Agar Paired-end <i>Pinus patula</i> <i>Pinus tecunumanii</i>	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt PAMP PCR PDA PE Pipt Pnte PR	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s) Pathogen-associated molecular pattern Polymerase chain reaction Potato Dextrose Agar Paired-end <i>Pinus patula</i> <i>Pinus tecunumanii</i> Pathogenesis-related	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt PAMP PCR PDA PE Pipt Pnte PR PRR	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s) Pathogen-associated molecular pattern Polymerase chain reaction Potato Dextrose Agar Paired-end <i>Pinus patula</i> <i>Pinus tecunumanii</i> Pathogenesis-related Pattern recognition receptor	
NGS NIFA NO NRF nt PAMP PCR PDA PE Pipt Pnte PR PRR PTI	Next-Generation sequencing National Institute of Food and Agriculture Nitric oxide National Research Foundation Nucleotide(s) Pathogen-associated molecular pattern Polymerase chain reaction Potato Dextrose Agar Paired-end Pinus patula Pinus tecunumanii Pathogenesis-related Pattern recognition receptor Pattern triggered immunity	



R gene/protein	Resistance gene/protein	
RAPD	Random amplification of polymorphic DNA	
RBH	Reciprocal best hit	
RNA	Ribonucleic acid	
RNA-seq	RNA sequencing	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species	
RQI	RNA quality index	
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA	
Sesqui-TPS	Sesquiterpene synthase	
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism	
spp.	species	
TAIR	The Arabidopsis Information Resource	
TPM	Transcripts per million	
TPS	Terpene synthase	
UniProtKB	Universal protein resource knowledge base	
USD	US dollars	
var.	Variety	



#### Preface

Pines are of substantial economic importance. Pitch canker disease caused by *Fusarium circinatum* represents a significant threat to many parts of the world. Research has shown that certain *Pinus spp.* are particularly susceptible to this phytopathogen, predominantly as seedlings. Unfortunately, the commercial pine species grown most extensively in South Africa, *Pinus patula*, is highly susceptible. Post-planting survival of *Pinus patula* seedlings has been severely reduced due to the seedling form of this disease; *Fusarium*-wilt. Presently, there is no effective way to control infections by *F. circinatum*, but hybridisation of *P. patula* with other relatively *Fusarium*-tolerant species, such as *Pinus tecunumanii*, has shown promise. However, the mechanisms, which underlie *P. tecunumanii*'s relative resistance, remains uncertain.

<u>Chapter 1</u> is a literature review, putting the research chapter into the context of existing knowledge. The review includes a description of the importance of *Pinus spp.*, the products supplied by these species, and their defensive mechanisms. The defence induced synthesis of secondary metabolites in *Pinus spp.* is discussed, focusing on the productions of terpenes by terpene synthase enzymes. This chapter outlines the issues faced by commercial *Pinus patula* plantations in Southern Africa as a result of the phytopathogen *Fusarium circinatum*.

<u>Chapter 2</u> is a research chapter, which describes the differences observed in induced transcriptional responses to infection by two *Pinus* species with contradistinctive susceptibility to infection by *Fusarium circinatum*. The partial characterisation of the terpene synthase genes which are differentially regulated in *Pinus patula* and *Pinus tecunumanii*, are assessed for their possible contribution toward *F. circinatum* susceptibility.

<u>Chapter 3</u> is the concluding remarks, a review of what was observed during this research, as well as describing the future research prospects which could augment the findings of this study.

#### The outcomes of this research were presented as the following conference poster:

Smith, R., Visser, E., Coetzee, M., and Naidoo, S., 2018. The terpene synthase genes implicated in the defence response by *Pinus patula* and *Pinus tecunumanii* to *Fusarium circinatum*. Joint South African Society for Bioinformatics (SASBi) South African Society for Genetics (SAGS) Congress 2018. 16 – 18 October. Golden Gate Hotel, Golden Gate Highlands National Park, South Africa.



## Chapter 1

## Literature review

# The putative role of terpenes in defence against a fungal pathogen in pine seedlings



Pitch canker disease, caused by *Fusarium circinatum* (teleomorph *Gibberella circinata*) Nirenberg and O'Donnell 1998, is regarded as one of the most significant species affecting commercial *Pinus* plantations worldwide (Wingfield *et al.* 2008; Reynolds and Gordon 2019). Herein we review the ecological and agricultural importance of pines, and consider the conjecture surrounding *Pine spp*. with varying levels of susceptibility to *F. circinatum*. Particularly, we consider the impact of this on South African agriculture, where *Pinus patula* has been the predominant commercial *Pine* spp. for many decades due to its propensity to grow in a cooler climate (Hodge and Dvorak 2007; Mitchell *et al.* 2011). Unfortunately, *P. patula* is particularly susceptible to *F. circinatum*, and this disease has resulted in major seedling losses since its introduction in the 1990s (Wingfield *et al.* 1999; Coutinho *et al.* 2007).

Research has implicated quantitative and qualitative characteristics of the terpene profile as a determinants of the susceptibility of *Pinus spp.* to *Fusarium* infection (Bohlmann and Way 2012; Bullington *et al.* 2018; Neis *et al.* 2018). A complex combination of terpene molecules form the predominant constituents of conifer volatile emissions, as well as serving as antimicrobial and antiherbivory components in oleoresin (Abbas *et al.* 2017; Celedon and Bohlmann 2019). Terpene biosynthesis has been shown to be induced by herbivore damage, pathogen recognition, and environmental stimuli (Nagegowda 2010; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010).

While the production of terpenes is regulated by many factors, it is principally dependant on the transcriptional regulation of terpene synthase genes (Fäldt *et al.* 2003; Nagegowda 2010; Trindade *et al.* 2016). The involvement of terpenes in various physiological and ecological functions requires the regulation of expression of numerous genes, though the terpene synthases are the focus of this study. The comparison of gene expression between two *Pinus spp.* with contradistinctive susceptibility to *F. circinatum* infection should elucidate whether there is evidence to believe that the hosts terpene profile are valuable as a contributing factor to susceptibility.



#### 1.1 Pinus spp. and the significance of Fusarium circinatum

Pines are conifers of substantial global economic importance because of their wood properties, and compatibility to grow within large-scale plantations (Burgess and Wingfield 2001). Several species of conifers have lifespans of up to a few thousand years, which suggests that the success of these trees is supported by considerable phenotypic plasticity and robustness (Loehle 1987; Hammerschmidt 2006). This is because, during their exceptionally long lifetime, these trees are exposed to numerous pests and pathogens. These pathogens have far shorter generation times than their long-established hosts, and are theoretically at an advantage over the host in the evolutionary arms-race of defence (Achotegui-Castells *et al.* 2016; Slinski *et al.* 2016). In response, conifers have evolved a unique collection of diverse physical and chemical defences to tolerate threats (Trapp and Croteau 2001b; Celedon and Bohlmann 2019).

#### 1.1.1 Global consequences of Fusarium circinatum infection

Pitch canker represents a significant threat to pines in many parts of the world, two recent articles cover this in detail; Lombardero *et al.* (2019) and Reynolds and Gordon (2019). As is clear, *Fusarium* infections are a particular issue in regions where natural forests and plantations are composed of susceptible *Pinus spp.*, such as in Australia and New Zealand (Barnard and Blakeslee 1987; Wingfield *et al.* 2008; Summerell *et al.* 2011). Additionally, *F. circinatum* has been reported in Mexico, Japan, Chile, Spain, as well as in the west of the USA (Viljoen 1994; Pfenning *et al.* 2014; Reynolds and Gordon 2019; Yang *et al.* 2019).

Characteristically, mature trees respond to infection by this pathogen by producing large quantities of terpene-rich oleoresin, or so-called 'pitch', as well as by forming cankerous lesions in the woody tissue (Dwinell 1985; Barnard and Blakeslee 1987; Bezos *et al.* 2017). Consequently, a common symptom of this disease in plantations is canopy dieback. Occurring as a result of obstruction of the vascular tissue, by large girdling lesions in the tissue adjoining the branch tip (Dwinell 1985). As the disease progresses lesions merge, cutting entire branches off from the vascular tissue, and in some cases, lesions within the main vascular bundle cause mortality of mature trees (Hodge and Dvorak 2000; Bezos *et al.* 2017).



Crucially, the degree of susceptibility to *F. circinatum* varies considerably among *Pinus* species (Dwinell 1985; Hodge and Dvorak 2000). Species such as *P. patula* and *P. radiata* are acutely susceptible to this phytopathogen, whereas other species, such as *P. tecunumanii*, are much less vulnerable (Eguiluz *et al.* 1996; Hodge and Dvorak 2000; Hongwane *et al.* 2018). Susceptibility to *F. circinatum* also differs within species, for instance, *P. tecunumanii* from high elevations is significantly less resistant than *P. tecunumanii* from lower elevations (Hodge and Dvorak 2000, 2007; Mitchell *et al.* 2014). However, symptoms differ depending on the *F. circinatum* genotype, climatic conditions, as well as being influenced by regional insects (Nel *et al.* 2014; Gordon and Reynolds 2017; Fru *et al.* 2018; Quesada *et al.* 2019).

#### 1.1.2 Pinus patula in South African forestry

First introduced into South Africa in 1907, subsequent selections have resulted in *P. patula* having been developed more than any other *Pinus* species, optimising growth and wood quality (King 1938; Burgess and Wingfield 2001). Previously, this species was the most prolifically grown in the country, with roughly 50% of the softwood forestry area in South Africa composed of *P. patula* (Wingfield *et al.* 1999; Mitchell *et al.* 2012). Recently, the productivity of this species is increasinly being negatively affected by fungal pathogens, with significant financial consequences (Mitchell *et al.* 2011, 2012; Forestry 2017). Although still a principal plantation species, there is mounting reluctance to use pure *P. patula* (Mitchell *et al.* 2011; Forestry 2017; Hongwane *et al.* 2018). Other species grown commercially in South Africa include those which are relatively frost tolerant; *Pinus radiata, Pinus taeda* and *Pinus elliottii*, though these species are also susceptible to Pitch canker disease (Dvorak 2001; Mabaso *et al.* 2019).

A possible alternative species, pure *P. tecunumanii* low elevation (LE), does not perform well in Southern Africa due to its poor cold tolerance, it is grown throughout Colombia and northern Mozambique (Eguiluz *et al.* 1996; Hodge and Dvorak 2000; Hongwane *et al.* 2018). Importantly, members of this species are particularly resistant to infection by *F. circinatum*, and are being used in South Africa as hybrids, combined with frost-tolerant *P. patula* (Kanzler *et al.* 2012, 2014; Mitchell *et al.* 2013; Hongwane *et al.* 2018). While *P. patula* x *P. tecunumanii* (*LE*) hybrids exhibit higher levels of *F. circinatum* resistance (Hodge and Dvorak 2000; Roux *et al.* 2007; Mitchell *et al.* 2013; Ford *et al.* 2014), *P. patula* x *P. tecunumanii* 



(HE) are significantly less susceptible to the cold (Granados *et al.* 2013; Kanzler *et al.* 2014; Hongwane *et al.* 2018).

Presently, there is no effective way to control infections by *F. circinatum* (Martínez-Álvarez *et al.* 2016; Amaral *et al.* 2019). However, the implementation of an integrated management approach has been shown to lessen the economic impact of the disease. This involves quarantine, as well as the selection for clones and hybrids that are more resistant (Gordon *et al.* 2015; Iturritxa *et al.* 2017; Lombardero *et al.* 2019). Improving *P. patula's* tolerance to this phytopathogen will be a major consideration when selecting future clones (Mitchell *et al.* 2012, 2013; Gordon *et al.* 2015; Mabaso *et al.* 2019).

#### 1.1.3 Fusarium circinatum as a seedling wilt disease

The seedling form of this disease is known as *F. circinatum*-wilt, and was first discovered in South Africa in 1990 (Viljoen 1994; Wingfield *et al.* 1999). Currently, *P. patula's* survival within nurseries and after field establishment has been drastically reduced due to the young trees increased susceptibility to *F. circinatum* (Crous 2005; Jones *et al.* 2014; Swett *et al.* 2015). This form of the disease is of concern as it causes wilting, chlorosis, and ultimately extensive losses of *P. patula* seedlings (Wingfield *et al.* 1999; Aegerter and Gordon 2006; Mitchell *et al.* 2011, 2012).

*Fusarium circinatum* has been shown to be hemibiotrophic, and not strictly necrotrophic as previously thought, and accordingly can colonise hosts without causing any visible symptoms (Swett *et al.* 2015, 2018). This fungal pathogen can cryptically infect the roots of seedlings, often only becoming symptomatic post infection by the stress associated with transferral of young trees into plantations (Swett *et al.* 2015, 2018). These losses could be mitigated by selecting seedlings with greater resistance to infections, as well as the development of improved detection methods (Morris *et al.* 2014; Gordon *et al.* 2015; Hongwane *et al.* 2018).



#### **1.2 Plant defence**

When a plant is confronted by an antagonist, be it insect or pathogen, there is a continuum of possible outcomes, from acute susceptibility to comprehensive resistance (Eyles *et al.* 2010). An important determinant of the interaction between plants and their challengers is that these organisms must be capable of overcoming the plants diverse defence strategies (Pearce 1996; Hammerschmidt 2009). This includes multiple chemical and physical defences utilised by the plant to inhibit infection by pathogens (Pearce 1996; Fu and Dong 2013; Pusztahelyi *et al.* 2015). Constitutive defences represent the first line of protection, incorporating sequestered metabolites such as phenolics and terpenoids, and lignified tissues which form physical barriers (Shestibratov; Witzell and Martín 2008; Pusztahelyi *et al.* 2015). When a microbe is able to overcome these defences and cause infection, the tree's induced defences are prompted (Agrawal 1999; Eyles *et al.* 2010).

Ideally, the pathogen is recognised by cells of a host plant, allowing the induction of a highly coordinated defence response to prevent colonisation and disease progression (Kovalchuk *et al.* 2013; Liang *et al.* 2014; Arango-Velez *et al.* 2016). Rapid pathogen recognition by the host, which triggers a defence response early on, increases the chances that the host will successfully subdual it (Liang *et al.* 2014; Arango-Velez *et al.* 2016; Amaral *et al.* 2019). This would be an "incompatible" interaction, as the host is able to resist the establishment of infection. Conversely, a "compatible" interaction occurs if the host is susceptible, and either does not recognise, or responds inadequately to the intruder, allowing the infection to spread (Grewal *et al.* 2012; Oliveira-Garcia and Valent 2015).

#### **1.2.1 Induced resistance**

Induced defence involves various compounds, the major ones being; terpenoids, phenolics, alkaloids, pheromones, phytoalexins, phytohormones, Anti-Microbial Peptides (AMPs), Pathogenesis-Related (PR) proteins, as well as those which contribute to the Hypersensitive (HR) and Hypersensitive-like Responses (Pearce 1996; Conrath *et al.* 2002; Eyles *et al.* 2010). PR proteins are either antimicrobial or act to strengthen the host's cell walls through cross-linking reactions and lignification (van Loon *et al.* 2006; Visser *et al.* 2018). Certain hydrolytic enzymes which degrade fungal cell walls, such as chitinases and B-1,3-glucanases, are classic



examples of PR proteins utility in defence (Liu *et al.* 2005; Naidoo *et al.* 2013). Alternatively, recognition of a pathogen can lead to HR, which is the rapid death of affected cells; this is most effective in the containment of biotrophic pathogens (Kinloch and Dupper 2002; Glazebrook 2005). However, the most diverse range of defences are inevitably offered by the most heterogenous molecules produced, the terpenes (Bohlmann *et al.* 1998a; Chen *et al.* 2011).

Numerous metabolic pathways contribute to defence within *Pinus spp.*, and their activation is highly coordinated with the development of disease (Hammerschmidt 2006; Fraser *et al.* 2015). Orchestrating a successful defence requires the induction, and simultaneous repression of pathways, which contribute to resistance qualitatively or quantitatively (Bonello *et al.* 2006; Hammerschmidt 2006; Witzell and Martín 2008; Kovalchuk *et al.* 2019). To achieve this, each pathway is controlled by various mechanisms of transcriptional, translational and post-translational modification (Grewal *et al.* 2012).

#### **1.2.2 Plant secondary metabolites**

Plant secondary metabolites do not directly participate in the primary processes of life, such as photosynthesis, respiration, solute transport, or in the formation of primary metabolites (Fraenkel 1959). However, research has shown that plant secondary metabolites play vital ecological functions, and consequently, plant evolutionary fitness is greatly influenced by the ecological range of functions of their secondary metabolites (Lichtenthaler 1999; Moore *et al.* 2014; Singh and Sharma 2015). Therefore, contradictory to the idea of these compounds as by-products, the selective pressures on plants for greater reproductive fitness has contributed to the evolution of this array of metabolic pathways, through which plants manufacture chemicals that can be detrimental or beneficial to other organisms (Fraenkel 1959; Padovan *et al.* 2014). This divergent part of plant evolution can also be regarded as "specialised" metabolism because it is an instance of phenotypic adaptations to particular environments, and thus not necessarily found throughout all plant lineages (Lichtenthaler 1999; Chen *et al.* 2011). So, in addition to being vital to plant defence and signalling, this attribute of secondary metabolite distribution and evolution makes them of phylogenetic relevance too (Moore *et al.* 2014).

While all spore-bearing and seed plants are able to produce terpenoids, polyphenols have such a broad distribution that they are thought to have been produced by ancient multicellular algae (Ashour *et al.*; Lichtenthaler 1999; Wink 2014). As secondary metabolism is so fundamental



to plant defence, it is thought that these pathways must be at least as old as land plants are (Lichtenthaler 1999; Wink 2014). The terpene synthase gene family is thought to have originated from an ancestral bifunctional Copalyl-Diphosphate/ Kaurene synthase enzyme (Yahyaa *et al.* 2015). This would suggest the basal pathways leading to phenolics and terpenoids must be at least 450 million years old (Padovan *et al.* 2014; Wink 2014; Celedon and Bohlmann 2019).

#### **1.2.3 Plant terpenes**

Terpenes form the most abundant group of plant secondary metabolites, and are immensely structurally diverse, at present around 50,000 individual compounds have been identified (Vranová *et al.* 2012; Padovan *et al.* 2014; Muhlemann *et al.* 2014). Terpenes are hydrocarbons with the general formula ( $C_5H_8$ )n, while terpenoids can be described as "modified" terpenes, to which a functional group that typically contain oxygen atoms added (Yadav *et al.* 2014; Ludwiczuk *et al.* 2016). However, in practice, the term "terpenes" is used to include terpenes as well as their derivatives.

The value of plant terpenes in nature, and to humans, is difficult to overstate. Terpenes contribute to the responses prompted by both biotic and abiotic stresses, as well as forming volatile signals to attract or deter other organisms (Dorman and Deans 2000; Moore *et al.* 2014). Over and above the physiological, and ecological functions terpenes play in plants, there is an enormous application of these compounds in the pharmaceutical, agricultural, and cosmetic industries, particularly for their aromatic qualities (Singh and Sharma 2015; Abbas *et al.* 2017). The polyterpene we use most extensively is rubber, but some other common terpenebased products include camphor, methanol, detergents, solvents, limonene, antiallergenic agents, as well as the nepetalactone in catnip (Croteau *et al.* 2000; Thimmappa *et al.* 2014; Ludwiczuk *et al.* 2016).

Plant terpenes are used extensively for their antiseptic properties, as being reactive open-chain or cyclic unsaturated compounds (Cowan 1999; Yadav *et al.* 2014). The antimicrobial activity of terpenes is of particular interest as a potential alternative to antibiotics, as we face a global increase in bacterial resistance (Singh and Sharma 2015; Abbas *et al.* 2017). Terpenes have been used in traditional remedies for centuries, and yet are being applied in novel



pharmaceutical instances, such as the treatment of cancer with antineoplastic terpenes; paclitaxel, and ingenol mebutate (Thormar 2010; Mafu and Zerbe 2018; Seca and Pinto 2018).

There are terpenes that can be found in all vascular plants. These are those which perform crucial functions, such as sterols in membrane structures, carotenoid pigments, and phytohormones such as abscisic acid and gibberellins (Gershenzon and Dudareva 2007; Abbas *et al.* 2017). Additional research has revealed many mono-, sesqui- and diterpenes that are fundamental to the environmental interactions of plants, as well as the interactions that take place between plants (Gershenzon and Dudareva 2007; Yu and Utsumi 2009; Abbas *et al.* 2017).

Each plant species has had to evolve the ability to produce a particular complement of terpenes that are most advantageous in its unique ecological niche (Tholl 2006; Gershenzon and Dudareva 2007; Chen *et al.* 2011). Accordingly, terpene diversity is enhanced by the process of adaptive selection; as other organisms evolve responses to plant metabolites, selection pressures lead to the acquisition of novel compounds (Fraenkel 1959; Moore *et al.* 2014; Pusztahelyi *et al.* 2015; Achotegui-Castells *et al.* 2016). As a result, plants are known to be able to synthesise thousands of distinct metabolites, and that number continues to grow (Hartmann 2007; Wink 2010). However, each individual plant species is able to produce only a subset of these compounds (Hartmann 2007; Chen *et al.* 2011; Moore *et al.* 2014; Wink 2014).

As defence is vital to evolutionary success, it is possible that each individual interaction between the host and its aggressor has driven the diversification of terpene profiles within, and between species (Padovan *et al.* 2010; Naidoo *et al.* 2014). This would be consistent with the significant quantitative and qualitative variations observed between, and even within species of *Eucalyptus* (Padovan *et al.* 2014) and *Pinus* (Ro and Bohlmann 2006; Zerbe and Bohlmann 2014; Trindade *et al.* 2016). The intraspecific diversity of terpenes implicates this metabolic pathway as an adaptive response, optimising fitness in diverse ecological instances (Moore *et al.* 2014).

Plants interact with their environment through the emission of volatile terpenoid compounds (Das *et al.* 2013; Zerbe and Bohlmann 2014). A low-level of volatiles are continually released by all plants, however, large volumes are released in response to damage or infection (Gershenzon and Dudareva 2007; Das *et al.* 2013). Due to their low molecular weight, monoand sesquiterpenes vaporise at relatively low temperatures, ideally suited for conveying



information over as wide as possible a range (Yadav *et al.* 2014; Muhlemann *et al.* 2014; Ludwiczuk *et al.* 2016). Another advantage of using these lipophilic molecules to communicate is their enormous structural diversity, which allows messages to be fairly specific (Das *et al.* 2013; Abbas *et al.* 2017). However, the complexity of these combinations is such that it is difficult to associate any particular attribute to any one species of terpene (Huber *et al.* 2004; Degenhardt *et al.* 2009; Boutanaev *et al.* 2015; Green *et al.* 2017).

#### Terpene biosynthesis and diversity

Although this class of compounds includes many which are extremely variable from one another in chemical structure, all of them originate from two biosynthetic pathways, as is outlined in Figure 1.1 (Dudareva *et al.* 2013; Abbas *et al.* 2017). In vascular plants, the plastidial Methyl-Erythritol-Phosphate (MEP) and classical cytosolic Mevalonic-Acid (MVA) pathways generate distinct collections of terpenes (Figure 1.1, (Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Abbas *et al.* 2017). These two pathways occur in distinct subcellular compartments and typically function independently from one another, although interaction between them has been observed (Hemmerlin *et al.* 2003; Dudareva *et al.* 2005). These two related, but distinct biosynthetic pathways result in the production of two inter-convertible C<sub>5</sub> monomers (Figure 1.1), which are the universal precursors of all isoprenoid compounds, including terpenes. These monomers are isopentenyl-diphosphate (IPP), and its allelic isomer dimethylallyl-diphosphate (DMAPP) (Yadav *et al.* 2014).





**Figure 1.1: The iso-, mono-, sesqui-, and diterpene biosynthetic pathways in conifers.** The plastidial MEP pathway starts with the condensation of pyruvate and GA-3P, while the MVA pathway spans the cytosol, peroxisomes and endoplasmic reticulum and starts with the condensation of acetyl-CoA. The result is various terpenoid molecules; listed are examples formed by Monoterpene Synthases (Mono-TPS), Sesquiterpene Synthases (Sesqui-TPS), and Diterpene Synthases (Di-TPS) in conifers. 3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl (HMG-CoA), isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP), dimethylallyl diphosphate (DMAPP), deoxyxylulose-5-phosphate (DXOP), and methylerythritol-4-phosphate (MEP).

The MVA pathway operates primarily in the cytosol and mitochondria (Luskey and Stevens 1985; Basson *et al.* 1988; Igual *et al.* 1992; Rodwell *et al.* 2000), beginning with the condensation of Acetyl-CoA to form 3-Hydroxy-3-MethylGlutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA). This is converted to mevalonate, which through sequential phosphorylation and decarboxylation events, results in the production of IPP (Tholl *et al.* 2005; Chen *et al.* 2011). The IPP molecules derived from the MVA pathway (Figure 1.1) can then be converted, by the action of enzyme isopentenyl diphosphate isomerase, to DMAPP (Chappell 1995; McGarvey 1995). The predominant products of the MVA pathway are sterols, sesquiterpenes, and ubiquinones (Singh and Sharma 2015).



In the plastid, the MEP pathway (Figure 1.1), also referred to as the mevalonate-independent pathway, biosynthesises both IPP and DMAPP (Hemmerlin *et al.* 2003). The products of this pathway go on to form monoterpenes, diterpenes, certain phytohormones, carotenoids, as well modifications to photosynthesis-related compounds, tocopherols, chlorophyll, phylloquinones, and plastoquinones (Singh and Sharma 2015). All the enzymes of the MEP pathway are contained within the plastids (Suire *et al.* 2000; Hsieh *et al.* 2008).

The MEP pathway is initiated by the condensation of pyruvic acid and glyceraldehyde-3phosphate (GAP), synthesising 1-deoxy-d-xylulose-5-phosphate (DOXP), which is converted to MEP. Two MEP molecules fuse to form hydroxy-methyl-butenyl-4-diphosphate (HMBPP), and with additional modifications, both DMAPP and IPP are produced, though not in equal proportions (Baker 1992; Cunningham *et al.* 2000; Rohdich *et al.* 2003; Tritsch *et al.* 2010; Thimmappa *et al.* 2014). Once formed, DMAPP and IPP monomers are condensed to form the precursors to all terpenes (Figure 1.1; Nagegowda 2010; Singh and Sharma 2015). Terpenes are grouped according to the monomers they are made up of. Though, it can be difficult to discern the original five-carbon residues due to extensive metabolic modifications. Terpenes containing two  $C_5$  units are monoterpenes ( $C_{10}$ ), while terpenes with three monomers are sesquiterpenes ( $C_{15}$ ), and diterpenes ( $C_{20}$ ) contain four monomers. Accordingly, we have triterpenes ( $C_{30}$ ) and tetraterpenes ( $C_{40}$ ), while anything larger is broadly classified as a polyterpenoid (Nagegowda 2010; Chen *et al.* 2011).

This diversity can be attributed to two classes of enzymes belonging to multiple large gene families; the cytochrome P450-dependent mono-oxygenases (CyP450s), and the terpene synthases (Zulak and Bohlmann 2010). Several of the CyP450s enzymes are known to be promiscuous, often responsible for adding the extremely variable modifications observed within an entire group of functionally or structurally related diterpenoids (Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Wen *et al.* 2018). Terpene synthases are a large family of enzymes that synthesise thousands of terpene products from very few substrates (Nagegowda 2010; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Padovan *et al.* 2014). While some terpene synthases are highly restricted in their product profiles, many of them catalyse the reactions for multiple products (Steele *et al.* 1998; Fäldt *et al.* 2003; Martin 2004). These enzymes are categorised according to their substrate specificity and phylogeny (Bohlmann *et al.* 1998a).

All plant terpene synthase enzymes belong to a family with diverged but related functions and are thought to have arisen from a common evolutionary origin, the duplication of an ancestral



gene (Hayashi *et al.* 2006; Degenhardt *et al.* 2009). This is consistent with the fact that the moss, *Physcomitrella patens*, only includes one functional terpene synthase gene, a bifunctional kaurene synthase, which is homologous with both angiosperm and gymnosperm terpene synthase genes (Trapp and Croteau 2001a; Keeling *et al.* 2010).

Plant terpene synthases fall into one of two classes; I; kaurene synthase-type, and II; copalyldiphosphate synthase-type, according to the reactions in which they participate (Degenhardt *et al.* 2009; Chen *et al.* 2011). Mono- and sesquiterpene synthases typically have class I domains (Dudareva 1996), while diterpene synthases can exist as either monofunctional or bifunctional enzymes, retaining either, or both class I and II functional domains (Peters *et al.* 2000). All terpene synthases contain an aspartate-rich, metal-binding domain, allows substrate binding by the coordination of divalent metal ions (Lesburg 1997). The functional promiscuity of these enzymes is due to the stochastic bond rearrangements that occur within their active sites, forming unusual combinations of carbocation intermediates (Steele *et al.* 1998; Degenhardt *et al.* 2009).

Terpene synthases are further grouped into clades (Bohlmann *et al.* 1998a; Dudareva 2003). Previous phylogenetic analyses have defined representative clades of terpene synthase sequences from gymnosperms and angiosperms (Chen *et al.* 2011). Currently, seven terpene synthase clades are recognised, as seen in Table 1.1, adapted from Chen *et al.* (2011). However, more recent phylogenetic analysis has suggested that the conifer-specific clade TPS-d (Table 1.1) is polyphyletic and could be adapted to accommodate more subsections in future (Hall *et al.* 2013a). This clade contains a significant proportion of the enzymes of conifer terpene synthesis (Bohlmann *et al.* 1998b; Pazouki and Niinemets 2016). Therefore, it is imperative to gain insight into the diversity within this clade. The rest of the conifer terpene synthases fall into the TPS-c and TPS-e/f subfamilies (Table 1.1), which have corresponding orthologs within angiosperms (Keeling *et al.* 2010; Chen *et al.* 2011; Boutanaev *et al.* 2015). However, while terpene synthase genes fall into seven distinct clades, plant lineages have the majority of their terpene synthases in one or two clades, having been derived through lineage-specific expansion (Trapp and Croteau 2001a; Degenhardt *et al.* 2009; Chen *et al.* 2011).



Subfamily	Groups	Functions	Distribution
	TPS-a-1	Sesqui-TPS	Dicots
TPS-a	TPS-a-2	Sesqui-TPS	Monocots
TPS-b		Mono-TPS, IspS	Angiosperms
TPS-c		CPS/KS, CPS, Di-TPS	Land plants
	TPS-d-1	Mono-TPS, Sesqui-TPS	Gymnosperms
	TPS-d-2	Sesqui-TPS	Gymnosperms
TPS-d	TPS-d-3	Di-TPS, Sesqui-TPS	Gymnosperms
TPS-e/f		KS, Di-TPS, Mono-TPS, Sesqui-TPS	Vascular plants
TPS-g		Mono-TPS, Sesqui-TPS, Di-TPS	Angiosperms
TPS-h		Putative bifunctional Di-TPS	Selaginella moellendorffii
* SesquiTPS, sesquiterpene synthase; MonoTPS, monoterpene synthase; IspS, isoprene synthase; CPS, copalyl synthase; KS, kaurane synthase; DiTPS, diterpene synthase;			

 Table 1.1: Function and taxonomic distribution of terpene synthase clades in plants, as

 defined by Chen et al. (2011):

In silico annotation of terpene synthases is problematic, because of the reactions catalysed by these enzymes and their primary structures are not exhibitive of their product profiles. An example of this is the extensive, yet distinct products produced by two terpene synthases with similar primary structures;  $\gamma$  -selinene synthase and  $\gamma$ -humulene synthase (Steele *et al.* 1998; Little and Croteau 2002). Although the mechanisms behind the extraordinary product plasticity of these enzymes are not predictable, the production of specific terpenes has been shown to be associated with particular amino acids sequences at sites of catalytic activity (Katoh *et al.* 2004).

Terpene synthase genes are well characterised in a wide variety of plants. This includes *Arabidopsis thaliana, Cucumis sativus, Nicotiana attenuate, Eucalyptus grandis,* and *Santalum album* (Facchini and Chappell 1992; Chen 2003; Mercke 2004; Jones *et al.* 2008; Degenhardt *et al.* 2009; Külheim *et al.* 2015). Most of our knowledge of terpene synthases in conifers comes from studies on *Picea abies, Picea sitchensis, Picea glauca, Abies grandis, Pinus taeda, Pseudotsuga menziesii,* and *Taxus media* (Byun-McKay *et al.* 2006; Ralph *et al.* 2006, 2008; Ro and Bohlmann 2006; Zulak *et al.* 2009; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Keeling *et al.* 2010, 2011; Bohlmann and Way 2012; Hall *et al.* 2013a).



#### Terpenes in conifers

Oleoresin is a viscose blend of volatile terpenes (terpenoids) and non-volatile diterpene resin acids, and is an important constituent for defence in conifers (Bohlmann *et al.* 1998a; Fäldt *et al.* 2003; Witzell and Martín 2008; Abbott *et al.* 2010; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010). The antimicrobial and antiherbivory component of conifer oleoresin is the volatile turpentine fraction, which includes a variable range of structurally diverse volatile mono- and sesquiterpenes (Zulak and Bohlmann 2010). In addition to being toxic to predators, the turpentine fraction acts as a solvent, carrying non-volatile diterpenes to where they are needed to form mechanical barriers or seal wounds (Bohlmann *et al.* 1998a).

Traumatic ducts, which are formed in *Picea* and other conifers, are specialised anatomical structures which accumulate and store oleoresin (Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Singh and Sharma 2015). The epithelial cells lining the interiors of these structures are understood to be where terpene biosynthesis occurs (Franceschi *et al.* 2005; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Kshatriya *et al.* 2018). Although these resin ducts exist constitutively, recognition of a potential threat or treatment with methyl jasmonate prompts their *de novo* formation (Krokene *et al.* 2008a; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Keeling *et al.* 2011; Bohlmann and Way 2012).

Methyl jasmonate is a lipophilic phytohormone which is implicated in defensive signalling (Creelman and Mullet 1997; Abbas *et al.* 2017). Topical application of this phytohormone induces the biosynthesis of terpene rich oleoresin and volatile terpenoids, similar to that typically initiated by pathogen recognition, thereby enabling the examination of the traumatic resin response in conifers (Barnard and Blakeslee 1987; Krokene *et al.* 2008b; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Reglinski *et al.* 2017).

In conifers, the production of defence-related terpenes is dynamic, allowing it to be adaptable in fluctuating environmental conditions, and to evolving biotic threats (Ro and Bohlmann 2006; Achotegui-Castells *et al.* 2016). In addition, terpene profiles have been shown to vary extensively between species (Bohlmann *et al.* 1998b; Trapp and Croteau 2001b; Martin and Bohlmann 2005). The efficiency with which the trees chemical defence can guard against pathogens is largely dependent on the composition and quantity of oleoresin terpenes (Köpke *et al.* 2010; Keeling *et al.* 2011; Buschiazzo *et al.* 2012).

Importantly, the emission of certain volatile monoterpenoids, such as pinenes and limonenes, has been shown to be under such strong genetic control that it can be used to distinguish



different genotypes (Forrest 1980; Kinloch *et al.* 1986). In particular, volatile terpenoids make reliable chemo-taxonomic markers because their biosynthesis is primarily under the control of gene expression, and therefore not significantly influenced by environmental factors (Erbilgin and Colgan 2012; Mitić *et al.* 2017a, 2018).

Many of the conifer terpene synthases that have been functionally characterised are described in an inclusive review by Keeling and Bohlmann (2006a). Despite their enormous size, the genomes of *Picea glauca*, *Pinus lambertiana*, and *Pinus taeda* have been sequenced (Birol *et al.* 2013; De La Torre *et al.* 2014; Neale *et al.* 2014; Zimin *et al.* 2014; Wegrzyn *et al.* 2014; Warren *et al.* 2015; Stevens *et al.* 2016). However, the identification of these genes within economically important conifer species has been augmented by transcriptome sequencing projects, such as that performed in *Pinus monticola*, *Pinus flexilis*, and *Pinus albicaulis* (Lorenz *et al.* 2012; Celedon and Bohlmann 2017; Cai *et al.* 2018; Shalev *et al.* 2018).

Non-volatile terpenes of conifer oleoresin are not known to be further biochemically modified by CyP450 enzymes, the diterpene compounds can be further oxidised into resin acids by multisubstrate CyP450s (McGarvey 1995; Keeling and Bohlmann 2006b). Genes from within the CYP720B superfamily have been shown to be responsible for at least two of the three successive oxidation steps required to modify diterpenoids (Ro and Bohlmann 2006; Hamberger and Bohlmann 2006). Therefore, it is possible that relatively few diterpene synthases and CyP450s are able to produce the extensive biochemical variability and plasticity of the host's terpene profile (Martin 2004; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Bathe and Tissier 2019; Celedon and Bohlmann 2019).

Hamberger and Bohlmann (2006) revealed that terpene synthase genes belong to a large a conifer-specific gene family, CYP720B, which is comparable in size to that of the terpene synthase gene families in conifers. The first CyP450 gene to be functionally characterised in conifers, CYP720B1, was identified from loblolly pine and implicated in the synthesis of diterpenoids (Ro *et al.* 2005; Ro and Bohlmann 2006). Since then, many more CyP450 enzymes have been described, as has been comprehensively reviewed by Bathe and Tissier (2019).



#### Prospects for metabolic engineering of terpenes

The importance of terpenes *in planta*, as well as commercially, makes their potential for manipulation through metabolic engineering attractive. The synthesis of terpenes is regulated at multiple levels, therefore any form of perturbation, particularly early on in the pathway, can lead to broad-spectrum changes in observed phenotype (Capell and Christou 2004). Previously, the transcription of monoterpene, sesquiterpene, and carotenoid pathway genes have been enhanced by overexpression of the rate-limiting enzymes responsible for producing precursor molecules (Figure 1.1) such as DXR, DXS, and HMGR (Dalla Costa *et al.* 2018; Henke *et al.* 2018; Zhang *et al.* 2018). However, the modulation of principal regulatory enzymes results in the indiscriminate alteration of metabolite concentrations (Zerbe and Bohlmann 2015; Abdallah and Quax 2017; Bian *et al.* 2017; Mewalal *et al.* 2017).

Metabolic engineering could augment plant resistance on multiple fronts including altering the timing, composition, or magnitude of the defence response mounted against a pest or pathogen (Tholl 2015). It has been shown that the overexpression of certain terpene synthase genes is a promising technique of terpene profile manipulation when addressing the abovementioned issues in transgenic plants (Krasnyanski *et al.* 1999; Aharoni *et al.* 2005; Zerbe and Bohlmann 2015; Bian *et al.* 2017; Neis *et al.* 2018). Recently, it was shown that the downregulation of d-limonene synthase increases the resistance of citrus crops to the phytopathogenic fungus *Phyllosticta citricarpa* (Rodríguez *et al.* 2018).

Research in *Pinus* species has revealed that in mature trees, as in seedlings, it is possible to induce alterations in the concentration and composition of monoterpenes and that this response is consistent within genotypes regardless of the trees age (Erbilgin and Colgan 2012). Although an observed increase in total monoterpene concentrations can provide an indication of the trees defence response to pathogen infection, this does not necessarily correspond to increased resistance (Heijari *et al.* 2005; Wen *et al.* 2018). It has been suggested that individual compounds within the terpenome contribute more strongly to a successful response than others, making their specific concentrations more indicative of observed resistance than the total terpene concentration (Zhao *et al.* 2011; Erbilgin and Colgan 2012; Schiebe *et al.* 2012; Trindade *et al.* 2016; Green *et al.* 2017; Reglinski *et al.* 2017; Mitić *et al.* 2018).

In the future, research should also be done to assess the correlation between terpene synthase gene translation and the corresponding terpenome of conifers (Zhang *et al.* 2018). Furthermore,



detailed knowledge of the particular expression profiles associated with certain diseases, infections, or stresses could eventually be used for diagnostic and taxonomic purposes (Abbas *et al.* 2017; Mitić *et al.* 2017b). It is worth noting that the positive results achieved by the overexpression of genes of terpene biosynthesis, which prompted the ample supply of isoprenoid precursors, can impose a cost on plant growth and fitness (Aharoni *et al.* 2005). This is due to the reduced supply of precursors to pathways of primary metabolism, as well as the potential toxicity of the compounds produced in excess within plant cells (Capell and Christou 2004; Bian *et al.* 2017; Owen *et al.* 2017; Dowd *et al.* 2018; Zhang *et al.* 2018). Therefore, before the true environmental and economic potential can be recognised, a more holistic approach is necessary to elucidate the complex genetic circuitry which underlies the terpenome (Mewalal *et al.* 2017).

Finally, endophyte research shows potential as a biological control against phytopathogenic fungi (Wingfield *et al.* 2008; Naik 2018). In *Pinus spp.*, the application of beneficial microorganisms is being investigated to reduce the severity of *F. circinatum* infection (Martínez-Álvarez *et al.* 2016; Iturritxa *et al.* 2017; Bullington *et al.* 2018), further corroborating that sustainable resistance will require a wide-ranging understanding of the multicomponent defence of *Pinus spp.* by numerous interconnected mechanisms (Amaral *et al.* 2019).

#### **1.3 Conclusions**

The fitness of forest and plantation tree populations is expected to decline rapidly as a result of the observed average increase in global temperatures. Studies modelling future conditions, show that approximately 60% of tree species adapted to temperate regions will be disadvantaged by the warmer climates forecast, and conifers are predicted to be amongst the most negatively affected (Hamann and Wang 2006; Alberto *et al.* 2013; Prunier *et al.* 2016; Simon and Adamczyk 2019; Celedon and Bohlmann 2019).

To address these issues, it is necessary to better understand the phenotypic plasticity within conifer terpenomes. Conifers produce a large array of phenolic and other chemical defence compounds, a considerable portion of the molecules within their defensive repertoire are terpenes (Trapp and Croteau 2001b; Krokene *et al.* 2008a). The sheer quantity and diversity



of terpene molecules hints at their importance; they are known to facilitate numerous plant interactions, as well as being vital to defence (Mitić *et al.* 2017b; Celedon and Bohlmann 2019).

Pitch canker on mature trees manifests as resinous lesions, further implying the involvement of terpenes in this defensive response (Dwinell 1985; Ploetz 2006; Hodge and Dvorak 2007; Martín-Rodrigues *et al.* 2013). Previous research by Seeve (2010) on the putative defence-related genes undergoing differential expression in *Pinus taeda* infected with *Fusarium circinatum* has highlighted the potential involvement of terpene synthase genes in this interaction. This is consistent with the known capability of particular terpenes to inhibit phytopathogenic fungi growth *in vitro* (Cowan 1999; Keeling and Bohlmann 2006b; Bakkali *et al.* 2008; Slinski *et al.* 2015).

The differences in induced responses to infection between the two *Pinus* species, with contradistinctive susceptibility, could help to elucidate the mechanisms which underlie the relative resistance of *P. tecunumanii* (Trindade *et al.* 2016; Arango-velez *et al.* 2018). The aim of this study is the identification and comparative expression analysis of various terpene synthase genes in *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii* (Visser *et al.* 2018). Although our focus is on the transcriptional regulation, we believe that this is a sufficient indication of terpene production, as multiple studies have shown that transcriptional levels are a good proxy for the level of terpene biosynthesis (Wang *et al.* 2010; Kovalchuk *et al.* 2019).

Above all, insight into the terpenome could help mitigate fungal infections in long-living conifer species, which are predicted to become more prevalent as a consequence of climate change (Lindner *et al.* 2010; Dudareva *et al.* 2013; Garrett *et al.* 2015; Iturritxa *et al.* 2017; Singh *et al.* 2018).



#### **1.4 References**

Abbas F., Y. Ke, Volatile terpenoids: multiple functions, biosynthesis, modulation and manipulation by genetic engineering. Planta 246: 803–816.

Abbott E., D. Hall, B. Hamberger, and J. Bohlmann, 2010 Laser microdissection of conifer stem tissues: Isolation and analysis of high quality RNA, terpene synthase enzyme activity and terpenoid metabolites from resin ducts and cambial zone tissue of white spruce (*Picea glauca*). BMC Plant Biology. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-10-106

Abdallah I. I., and W. J. Quax, 2017 A glimpse into the biosynthesis of terpenoids. KnE Life Sci. 3: 81. https://doi.org/10.18502/kls.v3i5.981

Achotegui-Castells A., G. Della Rocca, J. Llusià, R. Danti, S. Barberini, *et al.*, 2016 Terpene arms race in the *Seiridium cardinale-Cupressus sempervirens* pathosystem. Sci. Rep. 6: 18954. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18954

Aegerter B. J., and T. R. Gordon, 2006 Rates of pitch canker induced seedling mortality amongPinus radiata families varying in levels of genetic resistance to Gibberella circinata (anamorphFusariumcircinatum).For.Ecol.Manage.235:14–17.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.07.011

Agrawal A. A., 1999 Induced plant defense : evolution of induction and adaptive phenotypic plasticity. Induc. Plant Defenses Against Pathog. Herbiv. Ecol. Agric. 251–268.

Aharoni A., M. Jongsma, and H. Bouwmeester, 2005 Volatile science? Metabolic engineering of terpenoids in plants. Trends Plant Sci. 10: 594–602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2005.10.005

Alberto F. J., S. N. Aitken, R. Alía, S. C. González-Martínez, H. Hänninen, *et al.*, 2013 Potential for evolutionary responses to climate change - evidence from tree populations. Glob. Chang. Biol. 19: 1645–1661. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12181

Alfaro R. I., B. Fady, G. G. Vendramin, I. K. Dawson, R. A. Fleming, *et al.*, 2014 The role of forest genetic resources in responding to biotic and abiotic factors in the context of anthropogenic climate change. For. Ecol. Manage. 333: 76–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.04.006



Amaral J., B. Correia, C. António, A. M. Rodrigues, A. Gómez-Cadenas, *et al.*, 2019 *Pinus* susceptibility to pitch canker triggers specific physiological responses in symptomatic plants: An integrated approach. Front. Plant Sci. 10: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00509

Arango-velez A., S. Chakraborty, K. Blascyk, M. T. Phan, J. Barsky, *et al.*, 2018 Anatomical and chemical responses of eastern white pine (*Pinus strobus L.*) to blue-stain (*Ophiostoma minus*) inoculation. Forests 9(11), 690. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9110690

Arango-Velez A., W. El Kayal, C. C. J. Copeland, L. I. Zaharia, I. Lusebrink, *et al.*, 2016 Differences in defence responses of *Pinus contorta* and *Pinus banksiana* to the mountain pine beetle fungal associate *Grosmannia clavigera* are affected by water deficit. Plant Cell Environ. 39: 726–744. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12615

Ashour M., M. Wink, and J. Gershenzon, Biochemistry of terpenoids: monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes and diterpenes, pp. 258–303 in *Biochemistry of Plant Secondary Metabolism*, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK.

Baker J., 1992 Sequence and characterization of the gcpE gene of *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 94: 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1097(92)90604-M

Bakkali F., S. Averbeck, D. Averbeck, and M. Idaomar, 2008 Biological effects of essential oils–a review. Food Chem. Toxicol. 46: 446–475.

Barnard E. L., and G. M. Blakeslee, 1987 Pitch canker of southern pines. Plant Pathol. Circ. No. 302 1987: 1–11.

Basson M. E., M. Thorsness, J. Finer-Moore, R. M. Stroud, and J. Rine, 1988 Structural and functional conservation between yeast and human 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductases, the rate-limiting enzyme of sterol biosynthesis. Mol. Cell. Biol. 8: 3797–808. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.8.9.3797

Bezos D., P. Martínez-Alvarez, M. Fernández, and J. J. Diez, 2017 Epidemiology and management of pine pitch canker disease in Europe - A review. Balt. For. 23: 279–293.

Bian G., Z. Deng, and T. Liu, 2017 Strategies for terpenoid overproduction and new terpenoid discovery. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 48: 234–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2017.07.002

Birol I., A. Raymond, S. D. Jackman, S. Pleasance, R. Coope, *et al.*, 2013 Assembling the 20 Gb white spruce (*Picea glauca*) genome from whole-genome shotgun sequencing data. Bioinformatics 29: 1492–1497. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btt178



Bohlmann J., J. Crock, R. Jetter, and R. Croteau, 1998a Terpenoid-based defenses in conifers: cDNA cloning, characterization, and functional expression of wound-inducible (E)-alphabisabolene synthase from grand fir (*Abies grandis*). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95: 6756– 61. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.12.6756

Bohlmann J., G. Meyer-Gauen, and R. Croteau, 1998b Plant terpenoid synthases: Molecular biology and phylogenetic analysis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 95: 4126–4133. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.8.4126

Bohlmann J., M. Phillips, V. Ramachandiran, S. Katoh, and R. Croteau, 1999 cDNA cloning, characterization, and functional expression of four new monoterpene synthase members of the tpsd gene family from grand fir (*Abies grandis*). Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 368: 232–243. https://doi.org/10.1006/abbi.1999.1332

Bohlmann J., and D. Way, 2012 Pine terpenoid defences in the mountain pine beetle epidemic and in other conifer pest interactions: Specialized enemies are eating holes into a diverse, dynamic and durable defence system. Tree Physiol. 32: 943–945. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tps065

Bonello P., T. R. Gordon, D. A. Herms, D. L. Wood, and N. Erbilgin, 2006 Nature and ecological implications of pathogen-induced systemic resistance in conifers: A novel hypothesis. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 68: 95–104.

Boutanaev A. M., T. Moses, J. Zi, D. R. Nelson, S. T. Mugford, *et al.*, 2015 Investigation of terpene diversification across multiple sequenced plant genomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112: E81–E88. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1419547112

Bullington L. S., Y. Lekberg, R. Sniezko, and B. Larkin, 2018 The influence of genetics, defensive chemistry and the fungal microbiome on disease outcome in whitebark pine trees. Mol. Plant Pathol. 9: 1847–1858. https://doi.org/10.1111/mpp.12663

Burgess T., and M. J. Wingfield, 2001 Exotic pine forestry in the Southern Hemisphere: A brief history of establishment and quarantine practices. South. African For. J. 192: 79–83.

Buschiazzo E., C. Ritland, J. Bohlmann, and K. Ritland, 2012 Slow but not low: Genomic comparisons reveal slower evolutionary rate and higher dN/dS in conifers compared to angiosperms. BMC Evol. Biol. 12: 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-12-8



Byun-McKay A., K.-A. Godard, M. Toudefallah, D. M. Martin, R. Alfaro, *et al.*, 2006 Woundinduced terpene synthase gene expression in sitka spruce that exhibit resistance or susceptibility to attack by the white pine weevil. Plant Physiology. 140: 1009–1021. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.105.071803

Cai Q., B. Li, F. Lin, P. Huang, W. Guo, *et al.*, 2018 *de novo* Sequencing and assembly analysis of transcriptome in *Pinus bungeana* Zucc. ex Endl. Forests 9: 156.

Capell T., and P. Christou, 2004 Progress in plant metabolic engineering. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 15: 148–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2004.01.009

Celedon J. M., M. M. S. Yuen, A. Chiang, H. Henderson, and K. E. Reid, 2017 Cell-type- and tissue-specific transcriptomes of the white spruce (*Picea glauca*) bark unmask fine-scale spatial patterns of constitutive and induced conifer defense. 710–726. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13673

Celedon J. M., and J. Bohlmann, 2017 An extended model of heartwood secondary metabolism informed by functional genomics. Tree Physiol. 38: 1–9. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1111/tpj.13162

Celedon J. M., and J. Bohlmann, 2019 Oleoresin defenses in conifers: Chemical diversity, terpene synthases and limitations of oleoresin defense under climate change. New Phytol. nph.15984. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15984

Chappell J., 1995 Biochemistry and molecular biology of the isoprenoid biosynthetic pathway in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 46: 521–547. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pp.46.060195.002513

Chen F., 2003 Biosynthesis and emission of terpenoid volatiles from *Arabidopsis* flowers. Plant Cell Online 15: 481–494. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.007989

Chen F., D. Tholl, J. Bohlmann, and E. Pichersky, 2011 The family of terpene synthases in plants: A mid-size family of genes for specialized metabolism that is highly diversified throughout the kingdom. Plant J. 66: 212–229. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2011.04520.x

Conrath U., C. M. J. Pieterse, B. Mauch-mani, and B. Mauch-mani, 2002 Priming in plantpathogen interactions. Trends Plant Sci. 7: 210–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(02)02244-6



Coutinho T. A., E. T. Steenkamp, K. Mongwaketsi, M. Wilmot, M. J. Wingfield, *et al.*, 2007 First outbreak of pitch canker in a South African pine plantation. Australas. Plant Pathol. Pitch cank: 256–261. https://doi.org/10.1071/AP07017

Cowan M. M., 1999 Plant products as antimicrobial agents. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 12: 564–82. https://doi.org/0893-8512/99/\$04.00 0

Creelman R. A., and J. E. Mullet, 1997 Biosynthesis and action of jasmonates in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 48: 355–381. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.48.1.355

Croteau R., T. M. Kutchan, and N. G. Lewis, 2000 Natural products (secondary metabolites). Biochem. Mol. Biol. plants 24: 1250–1319.

Cunningham F. X., T. P. Lafond, and E. Gantt, 2000 Evidence of a Role for LytB in the nonmevalonate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis. J. Bacteriol. 182: 5841–5848. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.182.20.5841-5848.2000

Dalla Costa L., F. Emanuelli, M. Trenti, P. Moreno-Sanz, S. Lorenzi, *et al.*, 2018 Induction of terpene biosynthesis in berries of microvine transformed with VvDXS1 Alleles. Front. Plant Sci. 8: 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.02244

Das A., S. L. Tae, K. Hyun, and S. K. J. Kim, 2013 Plant volatiles as method of communication. 11816. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11816-012-0236-1

Degenhardt J., T. G. Köllner, and J. Gershenzon, 2009 Monoterpene and sesquiterpene synthases and the origin of terpene skeletal diversity in plants. Phytochemistry 70: 1621–1637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2009.07.030

Dorman H. J., and S. G. Deans, 2000 Antimicrobial agents from plants: Antibacterial activity of plant volatile oils. J. Appl. Microbiol. 88: 308–316. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2000.00969.x

Dowd P. F., B. W. Zilkowski, E. T. Johnson, M. A. Berhow, and E. J. Muturi, 2018 Transgenic expression of a maize geranyl-geranyl transferase gene sequence in maize callus increases resistance to ear rot pathogens. Agri Gene 7: 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aggene.2018.01.001



Dudareva N., 1996 Evolution of Floral Scent in *Clarkia*: Novel patterns of s-linalool synthase gene expression in the *C. breweri* flower. Plant Cell Online 8: 1137–1148. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.8.7.1137

Dudareva N., 2003 (E)-beta-Ocimene and myrcene synthase genes of floral scent biosynthesis in snapdragon: Function and expression of three terpene synthase genes of a new terpene synthase subfamily. Plant Cell Online 15: 1227–1241. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.011015

Dudareva N., S. Andersson, I. Orlova, N. Gatto, M. Reichelt, *et al.*, 2005 From The Cover: The nonmevalonate pathway supports both monoterpene and sesquiterpene formation in snapdragon flowers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 102: 933–938. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0407360102

Dudareva N., A. Klempien, J. K. Muhlemann, and I. Kaplan, 2013 Biosynthesis, function and metabolic engineering of plant volatile organic compounds. New Phytol. 198: 16–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12145

Dvorak W. S., 2001 Positioning tree improvement programs to utilize advances in new technologies. South. African For. J. 190: 19–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/20702620.2001.10434111

Dwinell L. D., 1985 Pitch Canker: A Disease Complex of Southern Pines. Plant Dis. 69: 270. https://doi.org/10.1094/PD-69-270

Eguiluz P., J. P. Perry, and P. Styles, 1996 Pinus tecunumanii. 639–642.

Erbilgin N., and L. J. Colgan, 2012 Differential effects of plant ontogeny and damage type on phloem and foliage monoterpenes in jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*). Tree Physiol. 32: 946–957. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tps047

Eyles A., P. Bonello, R. Ganley, and C. Mohammed, 2010 Induced resistance to pests and pathogens in trees. New Phytol. 185: 893–908. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.03127.x

Facchini P. J., and J. Chappell, 1992 Gene family for an elicitor-induced sesquiterpene cyclase in tobacco. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 89: 11088–92. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.22.11088

Fäldt J., D. Martin, B. Miller, S. Rawat, and J. Bohlmann, 2003 Traumatic resin defense in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*): Methyl jasmonate-induced terpene synthase gene expression,



and cDNA cloning and functional characterization of (+)-3-carene synthase. Plant Mol. Biol. 51: 119–133. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020714403780

Forestry S. A., 2017 Annual Report. McMenamin, Viv.

Forrest G. I., 1980 Genotypic variation among native scots pine populations in Scotland based on monoterpene analysis. Forestry 53: 101–128. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/53.2.101

Fraenkel G. S., 1959 The Raison d'Etre of Secondary Plant Substances: These odd chemicals arose as a means of protecting plants from insects and now guide insects to food. Science (80). 129: 1466–1470. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.129.3361.1466

Franceschi V. R., P. Krokene, E. Christiansen, and T. Krekling, 2005 Anatomical and chemical defenses of conifer bark against bark beetles and other pests. New Phytol. 167: 353–376. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01436.x

Fraser S., J. Martin-Garcia, A. Perry, M. S. Kabir, T. Owen, *et al.*, 2015 A review of *Pinaceae* resistance mechanisms against needle and shoot pathogens with a focus on the *Dothistroma-Pinus* interaction. For. Pathol. 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/efp.12201

Fru F. F., E. T. Steenkamp, M. J. Wingfield, J. Roux, F. F. Fru, *et al.*, 2018 High genetic diversity of *Fusarium circinatum* associated with the first outbreak of pitch canker on *Pinus patula* in South Africa. Southern Forests 81: 69-78. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2018.1496312

Fu Z. Q., and X. Dong, 2013 Systemic acquired resistance: turning local infection into global defense. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 64: 839–63. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042811-105606

Garrett K. A., M. Nita, E. D. De Wolf, P. D. Esker, L. Gomez-Montano, *et al.*, 2015 Plant pathogens as indicators of climate change, pp. 325–338 in *Climate Change (Second Edition)*, Elsevier.

Gershenzon J., and N. Dudareva, 2007 The function of terpene natural products in the natural world. Nat. Chem. Biol. 3: 408–414. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2007.5

Glazebrook J., 2005 Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 43: 205–227.



Gordon T. R., C. L. Swett, and M. J. Wingfield, 2015 Management of *Fusarium* diseases affecting conifers. Crop Prot. 73: 28–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2015.02.018

Gordon T. R., and G. J. Reynolds, 2017 Plasticity in plant-microbe interactions: a perspective based on the pitch canker pathosystem. Phytoparasitica 45: 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12600-016-0558-6

Green P. W. C., M. A. Hamilton, R. Fang, and M. D. Sanchez, 2017 Phenotypic plasticity in the emission of terpenes by a threatened pine species (*Pinus caribaea var. bahamensis*): effects of scale infestation and environment. Forestry 553–560. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpx013

Grewal R. K., S. Gupta, and S. Das, 2012 *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. *oryzae* triggers immediate transcriptomic modulations in rice. BMC Genomics 13: 49. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-13-49

Hall D. E., M. M. S. Yuen, S. Jancsik, A. L. Quesada, H. K. Dullat, *et al.*, 2013a Transcriptome resources and functional characterization of monoterpene synthases for two host species of the mountain pine beetle, lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) and jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*). BMC Plant Biol. 13: 80. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-13-80

Hall D. E., P. Zerbe, S. Jancsik, A. L. Quesada, H. Dullat, *et al.*, 2013b Evolution of conifer diterpene synthases: diterpene resin acid biosynthesis in Lodgepole pine and Jack pine involves monofunctional and bifunctional diterpene synthases. Plant Physiol. 161: 600–616. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.112.208546

Hamann A., and T. Wang, 2006 Potential effects of climate change on ecosystem. Ecology 87: 2773–2786. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[2773:PEOCCO]2.0.CO;2

Hamberger B., and J. Bohlmann, 2006 Cytochrome P450 mono-oxygenases in conifer genomes: discovery of members of the terpenoid oxygenase superfamily in spruce and pine. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 34: 1209–1214. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST0341209

Hammerschmidt R., 2006 Host-pathogen interaction in conifers: Complicated systems yield interesting possibilities for research. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 68: 93–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmpp.2007.01.002

Hammerschmidt R., 2009 Chapter 5 Systemic Acquired Resistance. Adv. Bot. Res. 51: 173–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2296(09)51005-1


Hartmann T., 2007 From waste products to ecochemicals: Fifty years research of plantsecondarymetabolism.Phytochemistry68:2831–2846.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2007.09.017

Hayashi K. ichiro, H. Kawaide, M. Notomi, Y. Sakigi, A. Matsuo, *et al.*, 2006 Identification and functional analysis of bifunctional ent-kaurene synthase from the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. FEBS Lett. 580: 6175–6181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2006.10.018

Heijari J., A. Nerg, P. Kainulainen, H. Viiri, M. Vuorinen, *et al.*, 2005 Application of methyl jasmonate reduces growth but increases chemical defence and resistance against *Hylobius abietis* in Scots pine seedlings. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 115: 117–124.

Hemmerlin A., J.-F. Hoeffler, O. Meyer, D. Tritsch, I. A. Kagan, *et al.*, 2003 Cross-talk between the cytosolic mevalonate and the plastidial methylerythritol phosphate pathways in tobacco bright yellow-2 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 26666–26676. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M302526200

Henke N. A., J. Wichmann, T. Baier, J. Frohwitter, K. J. Lauersen, *et al.*, 2018 Patchoulol production with metabolically engineered *Corynebacterium glutamicum*. Genes (Basel). 9: 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9040219

Hodge G. R., and W. S. Dvorak, 2000 Differential responses of Central American and Mexican pine species and *Pinus radiata* to infection by the pitch canker fungus. New For. 19: 241–258. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006613021996

Hodge G. R., and W. S. Dvorak, 2007 Variation in pitch canker resistance among provenances of *Pinus patula* and *Pinus tecunumanii* from Mexico and Central America. New For. 33: 193–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-006-9023-6

Hongwane P., G. Mitchell, A. Kanzler, S. Verryn, J. Lopez, *et al.*, 2018 Alternative pine hybrids and species to *Pinus patula* and *P. radiata* in South Africa and Swaziland. South. For. 80: 301–310. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2017.1393744

Hsieh M.-H., C.-Y. Chang, S.-J. Hsu, and J.-J. Chen, 2008 Chloroplast localization of methylerythritol 4-phosphate pathway enzymes and regulation of mitochondrial genes in ispD and ispE albino mutants in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Mol. Biol. 66: 663–673. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-008-9297-5



Huber D. P. W., S. Ralph, and J. Bohlmann, 2004 Genomic hardwiring and phenotypic plasticity of terpenoid-based defenses in conifers. J. Chem. Ecol. 30: 2399–2418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-004-7942-2

Huber D. P. W., R. N. Philippe, K. A. Godard, R. N. Sturrock, and J. Bohlmann, 2005 Characterization of four terpene synthase cDNAs from methyl jasmonate-induced Douglas-fir, *Pseudotsuga menziesii*. Phytochemistry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2005.04.030

Igual J. C., C. Gonzalez-Bosch, J. Dopazo, and J. E. Perez-Ortin, 1992 Phylogenetic analysis of the thiolase family. Implications for the evolutionary origin of peroxisomes. J. Mol. Evol. 35: 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00183226

Iturritxa E., T. Trask, N. Mesanza, R. Raposo, M. Elvira-Recuenco, *et al.*, 2017 Biocontrol of *Fusarium circinatum* infection of young *Pinus radiata* Trees. Forests 8: 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/f8020032

Jones C. G., C. I. Keeling, E. L. Ghisalberti, E. L. Barbour, J. A. Plummer, *et al.*, 2008 Isolation of cDNAs and functional characterisation of two multi-product terpene synthase enzymes from sandalwood, *Santalum album L.* Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 477: 121–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2008.05.008

Jones N. B., C. M. Ford, M. E. Light, R. L. Nadel, I. Greyling, *et al.*, 2014 Effect on nursery and field performance of *Pinus patula* seedlings after inoculation with *Fusarium circinatum*. South. For. a J. For. Sci. 76: 125–136. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2014.916503

Kanzler A., K. Payn, and A. Nel, 2012 Performance of two *Pinus patula* hybrids in southern Africa. South. For. a J. For. Sci. 74: 19–25. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2012.683639

Kanzler A., A. Nel, and C. Ford, 2014 Development and commercialisation of the *Pinus patula x P. tecunumanii* hybrid in response to the threat of *Fusarium circinatum*. New For. 45: 417–437. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-014-9412-1

Katoh S., D. Hyatt, and R. Croteau, 2004 Altering product outcome in *Abies grandis* (–)limonene synthase and (–)-limonene/(–)-α-pinene synthase by domain swapping and directed mutagenesis. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 425: 65–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2004.02.015

Keeling C. I., and J. Bohlmann, 2006a Genes, enzymes and chemicals of terpenoid diversity in the constitutive and induced defence of conifers against insects and pathogens. New Phytol. 170: 657–675. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01716.x



Keeling C. I., and J. Bohlmann, 2006b Diterpene resin acids in conifers. Phytochemistry 67: 2415–2423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.08.019

Keeling C. I., H. K. Dullat, M. Yuen, S. G. Ralph, S. Jancsik, *et al.*, 2010 Identification and functional characterization of monofunctional ent-copalyl diphosphate and ent-kaurene synthases in white spruce reveal different patterns for diterpene synthase evolution for primary and secondary metabolism in Gymnosperms. Plant Physiol. 152: 1197–1208. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.151456

Keeling C. I., S. Weisshaar, S. G. Ralph, S. Jancsik, B. Hamberger, *et al.*, 2011 Transcriptome mining, functional characterization, and phylogeny of a large terpene synthase gene family in spruce (*Picea* spp.). BMC Plant Biol. 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-11-43

King N. L., 1938 Historical sketch of the development of forestry in South Africa. J. South African For. Assoc. 1: 4–16.

Kinloch B. B., R. D. Westfall, and G. I. Forrest, 1986 Caledonian Scots Pine: Origins and genetic structure. New Phytol. 104: 703–729. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1986.tb00671.x

Kinloch B. B., and G. E. Dupper, 2002 Genetic specificity in the white pine-blister rust pathosystem. Phytopathology 92: 278–280.

Köpke D., I. Beyaert, J. Gershenzon, M. Hilker, and A. Schmidt, 2010 Species-specific responses of pine sesquiterpene synthases to sawfly oviposition. Phytochemistry 71: 909–917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2010.03.017

Kovalchuk A., S. Kerï, A. O. Oghenekaro, E. Jaber, T. Raffaello, *et al.*, 2013 Antimicrobial Defenses and resistance in forest trees: challenges and perspectives in a genomic era. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol 51. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-082712-102307

Kovalchuk A., Z. Zeng, R. P. Ghimire, M. Kivimäenpää, T. Raffaello, *et al.*, 2019 Dual RNAseq analysis provides new insights into interactions between Norway spruce and necrotrophic pathogen *Heterobasidion annosum* s . 1 . 1–17.

Krasnyanski S., R. A. May, A. Loskutov, T. M. Ball, and K. C. Sink, 1999 Transformation of the limonene synthase gene into peppermint (*Mentha piperita L.*) and preliminary studies on the essential oil profiles of single transgenic plants. Theor. Appl. Genet. 99: 676–682. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001220051284



Krokene P., N. E. Nagy, and T. Krekling, 2008a Traumatic Resin Ducts and Polyphenolic Parenchyma Cells in Conifers, pp. 147–169 in *Induced Plant Resistance to Herbivory*, Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.

Krokene P., N. E. Nagy, and H. Solheim, 2008b Methyl jasmonate and oxalic acid treatment of Norway spruce: anatomically based defense responses and increased resistance against fungal infection. Tree Physiol. 28: 29–35. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/28.1.29

Kshatriya K., J. G. A. Whitehill, L. Madilao, H. Henderson, A. Kermode, *et al.*, 2018 Histology of resin vesicles and oleoresin terpene composition of conifer seeds. Can. J. For. Res. 1–24.

Külheim C., A. Padovan, C. Hefer, S. T. Krause, T. G. Köllner, *et al.*, 2015 The *Eucalyptus* terpene synthase gene family. BMC Genomics 16: 450. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1598-x

La Torre A. R. De, I. Birol, J. Bousquet, P. K. Ingvarsson, S. Jansson, *et al.*, 2014 Insights into conifer giga-genomes. Plant Physiol. 166: 1724–1732. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.114.248708

Lesburg C. A., 1997 Crystal structure of pentalenene synthase: mechanistic insights on terpenoid cyclization reactions in biology. Science (80). 277: 1820–1824. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.277.5333.1820

Liang H., M. Staton, Y. Xu, T. Xu, and J. Leboldus, 2014 Comparative expression analysis of resistant and susceptible *Populus* clones inoculated with *Septoria musiva*. Plant Sci. 223: 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2014.03.004

Lichtenthaler H. K., 1999 The 1-deoxy-d-xylulose- 5-phosphate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis in plants. 47–65.

Lindner M., M. Maroschek, S. Netherer, A. Kremer, A. Barbati, *et al.*, 2010 Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. For. Ecol. Manage. 259: 698–709.

Little D. B., and R. B. Croteau, 2002 Alteration of product formation by directed mutagenesis and truncation of the multiple-product sesquiterpene synthases  $\delta$ -selinene synthase and  $\gamma$ -humulene synthase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 402: 120–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9861(02)00068-1



Liu J.-J., A. K. M. Ekramoddoullah, and A. Zamani, 2005 A class IV chitinase is up-regulated by fungal infection and abiotic stresses and associated with slow-canker-growth resistance to *Cronartium ribicola* in western white pine (*Pinus monticola*). Phytopathology 95: 284–291.

Loehle C., 1987 Partitioning of Reproductive effort in clonal plants: A Benefit-Cost Model. Oikos 49: 199. https://doi.org/10.2307/3566027

Lombardero M. J., A. Solla, and M. P. Ayres, 2019 Forest ecology and management pine defenses against the pitch canker disease are modulated by a native insect newly associated with the invasive fungus. For. Ecol. Manage. 437: 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.01.041

Loon L. C. van, M. Rep, and C. M. J. Pieterse, 2006 Significance of inducible defense-related proteins in infected plants. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 44: 135–62. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phyto.44.070505.143425

Lorenz W. W., S. Ayyampalayam, J. M. Bordeaux, G. T. Howe, K. D. Jermstad, *et al.*, 2012 Conifer DBMagic: a database housing multiple *de novo* transcriptome assemblies for 12 diverse conifer species. Tree Genet. Genomes 8: 1477–1485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11295-012-0547-y

Ludwiczuk A., K. Skalicka-Woźniak, and M. I. Georgiev, 2016 *Terpenoids*. Pharmacognosy 223-265. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802104-0.00011-1

Luskey K. L., and B. Stevens, 1985 Human 3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl Coenzyme A Reductase. 260: 10271–10277.

Mabaso F., H. Ham, and A. Nel, 2019 Frost tolerance of various *Pinus* pure species and hybrids. South. For. 2620. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2019.1615212

Mafu S., and P. Zerbe, 2018 Plant diterpenoid metabolism for manufacturing the biopharmaceuticals of tomorrow: prospects and challenges. Phytochem. Rev. 17: 113–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-017-9513-5

Martín-Rodrigues N., S. Espinel, J. Sanchez-Zabala, A. Ortíz, C. González-Murua, *et al.*, 2013 Spatial and temporal dynamics of the colonization of *Pinus radiata* by *Fusarium circinatum*, of conidiophora development in the pith and of traumatic resin duct formation. New Phytol. 198: 1215–1227. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12222



Martin D. M., 2004 Functional characterization of nine Norway spruce TPS genes and evolution of Gymnosperm terpene synthases of the TPS-d subfamily. Plant Physiol. 135: 1908–1927. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.104.042028

Martin D., and J. Bohlmann, 2005 Molecular biochemistry and genomics of terpenoid defenses in conifers. Recent Adv. Phytochem. 39: 29–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-9920(05)80003-6

Martínez-Álvarez P., R. A. Fernández-González, A. V. Sanz-Ros, V. Pando, and J. J. Diez, 2016 Two fungal endophytes reduce the severity of pitch canker disease in *Pinus radiata* seedlings. Biol. Control 94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2015.11.011

McGarvey D. J., 1995 Terpenoid Metabolism. Plant Cell Online 7: 1015–1026. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.7.7.1015

Mercke P., 2004 Combined transcript and metabolite analysis reveals genes involved in spider mite induced volatile formation in cucumber plants. Plant Physiol. 135: 2012–2024. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.104.048116

Mewalal R., D. K. Rai, D. Kainer, F. Chen, C. Külheim, *et al.*, 2017 Plant-Derived Terpenes: A Feedstock for Specialty Biofuels. Trends Biotechnol. 35: 227–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2016.08.003

Mitchell R. G., E. T. Steenkamp, T. a Coutinho, and M. J. Wingfield, 2011 The pitch canker fungus, *Fusarium circinatum*: Implications for South African forestry. South. For. 73: 1–13. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2011.574828

Mitchell R., T. Coutinho, E. Steenkamp, M. Herbert, and M. Wingfield, 2012 Future outlook for *Pinus patula* in South Africa in the presence of the pitch canker fungus (*Fusarium circinatum*). South. For. a J. Sci. 74: 203–210. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2012.741792

Mitchell R. G., M. J. Wingfield, G. R. Hodge, E. T. Steenkamp, and T. A. Coutinho, 2013 The tolerance of *Pinus patula x Pinus tecunumanii*, and other pine hybrids, to *Fusarium circinatum* in greenhouse trials. New For. 44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-012-9355-3

Mitchell R. G., M. J. Wingfield, E. T. Steenkamp, J. Roux, S. Verryn, *et al.*, 2014 Comparison of the tolerance of *Pinus patula* seedlings and established trees to infection by *Fusarium circinatum*. South. For. a J. Sci. 76: 151–159. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2014.899061



Mitić Z. S., S. Č. Jovanović, B. K. Zlatković, B. M. Nikolić, G. S. Stojanović, *et al.*, 2017a Needle terpenes as chemotaxonomic markers in *Pinus*: subsections *Pinus* and *Pinaster*. Chem. Biodivers. 14. doi: 10.1002/cbdv.201600453

Mitić Z. S., B. M. Nikolić, M. S. Ristić, V. V. Tešević, S. R. Bojović, *et al.*, 2017b Terpenes as useful markers in differentiation of natural populations of relict pines *Pinus heldreichii*, *P. nigra*, and *P. peuce*. Chem. Biodivers. 14. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbdv.201700093

Mitić Z. S., B. Jovanović, S. Jovanović, T. Mihajilov-Krstev, Z. Z. Stojanović-Radić, *et al.*, 2018 Comparative study of the essential oils of four *Pinus* species: Chemical composition, antimicrobial and insect larvicidal activity. Ind. Crops Prod. 111: 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2017.10.004

Moore B. D., R. L. Andrew, C. Külheim, and W. J. Foley, 2014 Explaining intraspecific diversity in plant secondary metabolites in an ecological context. New Phytol. 201: 733–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12526

Morris A. R., G. Fourie, I. Greyling, E. T. Steenkamp, and N. B. Jones, 2014 Re-use of seedling containers and *Fusarium circinatum* association with asymptomatic *Pinus patula* planting stock. South. For. 76: 177–187. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2014.957491

Muhlemann J. K., A. Klempien, and N. Dudareva, 2014 Floral volatiles: from biosynthesis to function. Plant. Cell Environ. 37: 1936–1949. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12314

Nagegowda D. A., 2010 Plant volatile terpenoid metabolism: Biosynthetic genes, transcriptional regulation and subcellular compartmentation. FEBS Lett. 584: 2965–2973. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2010.05.045

Naidoo R., L. Ferreira, D. K. Berger, A. Myburg, and S. Naidoo, 2013 The identification and differential expression of *Eucalyptus grandis* pathogenesis-related genes in response to salicylic acid and methyl jasmonate. Front Plant Sci 4: 43. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00043

Naidoo S., C. Külheim, L. Zwart, R. Mangwanda, C. N. Oates, *et al.*, 2014 Uncovering the defence responses of *Eucalyptus* to pests and pathogens in the genomics age. Tree Physiol. 34: 931–943. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpu075



Neale D. B., J. L. Wegrzyn, K. A. Stevens, A. V Zimin, D. Puiu, *et al.*, 2014 Decoding the massive genome of loblolly pine using haploid DNA and novel assembly strategies. Genome Biol. 15: R59. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2014-15-3-r59

Neis F. A., F. de Costa, T. N. Füller, J. C. de Lima, K. C. da Silva Rodrigues-Corrêa, *et al.*, 2018 Biomass yield of resin in adult *Pinus elliottii Engelm*. trees is differentially regulated by environmental factors and biochemical effectors. Ind. Crops Prod. 118: 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2018.03.027

Nel A., G. R. Hodge, K. E. Mongwaketsi, and A. Kanzler, 2014 Genetic parameters for *Fusarium circinatum* tolerance within openpollinated families of *Pinus patula* tested at screening facilities in South Africa and the USA. South. For. a J. For. Sci. 76: 145–150. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2014.916500

Nier A., and J. Dobrza, 2018 The impact of climate change and strong anthropopressure on the annual growth of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris L.*) wood growing in eastern Poland. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9110661

Nirenberg H. I., and K. O'Donnell, 1998 New *Fusarium* species and combinations within the *Gibberella fujikuroi* species complex. Mycologia 90: 434–458. https://doi.org/10.1080/00275514.1998.12026929

Oliveira-Garcia E., and B. Valent, 2015 How eukaryotic filamentous pathogens evade plant recognition. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 26: 92–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2015.06.012

Owen C., N. J. Patron, A. Huang, and A. Osbourn, 2017 Harnessing plant metabolic diversity. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 40: 24–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2017.04.015

Padovan A., A. Keszei, T. G. Köllner, J. Degenhardt, and W. J. Foley, 2010 The molecular basis of host plant selection in *Melaleuca quinquenervia* by a successful biological control agent. Phytochemistry 71: 1237–1244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2010.05.013

Padovan A., A. Keszei, C. Külheim, and W. J. Foley, 2014 The evolution of foliar terpene diversity in Myrtaceae. Phytochem. Rev. 13: 695–716. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-013-9331-3

Pazouki L., and Ü. Niinemets, 2016 Multi-Substrate Terpene synthases: Their occurrence and physiological significance. Front. Plant Sci. 7: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01019



Pearce R. B., 1996 Antimicrobial defences in the wood of living trees. New Phytol. 132: 203–233. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1996.tb01842.x

Peters R. J., J. E. Flory, R. Jetter, M. M. Ravn, H.-J. Lee, *et al.*, 2000 Abietadiene synthase from grand fir (*Abies grandis*): Characterization and mechanism of action of the "pseudomature" recombinant enzyme. Biochemistry 39: 15592–15602. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi0019971

Pfenning L. H., S. Da Silva Costa, M. Pereira De Melo, H. Costa, J. A. Ventura, *et al.*, 2014 First report and characterization of *Fusarium circinatum*, the causal agent of pitch canker in Brazil. Trop. Plant Pathol. 39. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1982-56762014000300004

Ploetz R. C., 2006 *Fusarium* induced diseases of tropical, perennial crops. Phytopathology 96: 648–652. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-96-0648

Prunier J., J. P. Verta, and J. J. Mackay, 2016 Conifer genomics and adaptation: At the crossroads of genetic diversity and genome function. New Phytol. 209: 44–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13565

Pusztahelyi T., I. J. Holb, and I. Pócsi, 2015 Secondary metabolites in fungus-plant interactions. Front. Plant Sci. 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00573

Quesada T., S. Lucas, K. Smith, and J. Smith, 2019 Response to temperature and virulence assessment of *Fusarium circinatum* isolates in the context of climate change. 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/f10010040

Ralph S. G., H. Yueh, M. M. Friedmann, D. Aeschliman, J. A. Zeznik, *et al.*, 2006 Conifer defence against insects: microarray gene expression profiling of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) induced by mechanical wounding or feeding by spruce budworms (*Choristoneura occidentalis*) or white pine weevils (*Pissodes strobi*) reveals large-scale. Plant, Cell Environ. 29: 1545–1570. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2006.01532.x

Ralph S. G., H. J. E. Chun, N. Kolosova, D. Cooper, C. Oddy, *et al.*, 2008 A conifer genomics resource of 200,000 spruce (*Picea spp.*) ESTs and 6,464 high-quality, sequence-finished full-length cDNAs for Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*). BMC Genomics 9: 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-9-484

Reglinski T., J. T. Taylor, G. L. Northcott, A. Ah Chee, M. Spiers, *et al.*, 2017 Biochemical responses associated with induced resistance to *Colletotrichum acutatum* in *Pinus radiata* 



seedlings treated with methyl jasmonate and *Trichoderma spp*. For. Pathol. 47: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/efp.12350

Reynolds G. J., and T. R. Gordon, 2019 Projecting monterey pine (*Pinus radiata*) populations over time in the presence of various representations of pitch canker disease, caused by *Fusarium circinatum*. Forests 10: 437; doi:10.3390/f10050437

Ro D.-K., G.-I. Arimura, S. Y. W. Lau, E. Piers, and J. Bohlmann, 2005 Loblolly pine abietadienol/abietadienal oxidase PtAO (CYP720B1) is a multifunctional, multisubstrate cytochrome P450 monooxygenase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 102: 8060–8065. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0500825102

Ro D.-K., and J. Bohlmann, 2006 Diterpene resin acid biosynthesis in loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*): Functional characterization of abietadiene/levopimaradiene synthase (PtTPS-LAS)cDNA and subcellular targeting of PtTPS-LAS and abietadienol/abietadienal oxidase (PtAO,CYP720B1).Phytochemistry67:1572–1578.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.01.011

Rodríguez A., V. Kava, L. Latorre-García, G. J. da Silva, R. G. Pereira, *et al.*, 2018 Engineering d-limonene synthase down-regulation in orange fruit induces resistance against the fungus *Phyllosticta citricarpa* through enhanced accumulation of monoterpene alcohols and activation of defence. Mol. Plant Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1111/mpp.12681

Rodwell V. W., M. J. Beach, K. M. Bischoff, D. A. Bochar, B. G. Darnay, *et al.*, 2000 3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase. Methods Enzymol. 324: 259–80.

Rohdich F., F. Zepeck, P. Adam, S. Hecht, J. Kaiser, *et al.*, 2003 The deoxyxylulose phosphate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis: Studies on the mechanisms of the reactions catalyzed by IspG and IspH protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 100: 1586–1591. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0337742100

Schiebe C., A. Hammerbacher, G. Birgersson, J. Witzell, P. E. Brodelius, *et al.*, 2012 Inducibility of chemical defenses in Norway spruce bark is correlated with unsuccessful mass attacks by the spruce bark beetle. Oecologia 170: 183–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-012-2298-8

Schnee C., T. G. Kollner, M. Held, T. C. J. Turlings, J. Gershenzon, *et al.*, 2006 The products of a single maize sesquiterpene synthase form a volatile defense signal that attracts natural



enemies of maize herbivores. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 103: 1129–1134. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0508027103

Seca A., and D. Pinto, 2018 Plant Secondary metabolites as anticancer agents: Successes in clinical trials and therapeutic application. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 19: 263. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19010263

Shalev T. J., M. M. S. S. Yuen, A. Gesell, A. Yuen, J. H. Russell, *et al.*, 2018 An annotated transcriptome of highly inbred *Thuja plicata* (*Cupressaceae*) and its utility for gene discovery of terpenoid biosynthesis and conifer defense. Tree Genet. genomes 14: 14–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11295-018-1248-y

Simon J., and B. Adamczyk, 2019 Editorial : Plant secondary compounds in forest ecosystems under global change : From defense to carbon sequestration. Global change biology 10: 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14503

Singh B., and R. A. Sharma, 2015 Plant terpenes: defense responses, phylogenetic analysis, regulation and clinical applications. 3 Biotech 5: 129–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-014-0220-2

Singh P., T. Hussain, S. Patel, and N. Akhtar, 2018 Impact of climate change on root–pathogen interactions, pp. 409–427 in *Root Biology*, Springer.

Slinski S. L., F. Zakharov, and T. R. Gordon, 2015 The Effect of resin and monoterpenes on spore germination and growth in *Fusarium circinatum*. Phytopathology 105: 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-02-14-0027-R

Slinski S. L., S. C. Kirkpatrick, and T. R. Gordon, 2016 Inheritance of virulence in *Fusarium circinatum*, the cause of pitch canker in pines. Plant Pathol. n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.12511

Steele C. L., J. Crock, J. Bohlmann, and R. Croteau, 1998 Sesquiterpene synthases from grand fir (*Abies grandis*). J. Biol. Chem. 273: 2078–2089. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.4.2078

Stevens K. A., J. L. Wegrzyn, A. Zimin, D. Puiu, M. Crepeau, et al., 2016 Sequence of thesugarpinemegagenome.Genetics204:1613–1626.https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.116.193227



Suire C., F. Bouvier, R. A. Backhaus, D. Bégu, M. Bonneu, *et al.*, 2000 Cellular localization of isoprenoid biosynthetic enzymes in *Marchantia polymorpha*. Uncovering a new role of oil bodies. Plant Physiol. 124: 971–978. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.124.3.971

Summerell B. A., J. F. Leslie, E. C. Y. Liew, M. H. Laurence, S. Bullock, *et al.*, 2011 *Fusarium* species associated with plants in Australia. Fungal Divers. 46: 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13225-010-0075-8

Swett C. L., S. C. Kirkpatrick, and T. Gordon, 2015 Evidence for a hemibiotrophic association of the pitch canker pathogen, *Fusarium circinatum*, with *Pinus radiata*. Plant Dis. 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-03-15-0270-RE

Swett C. L., G. J. Reynolds, and T. R. Gordon, 2018 Infection without wounding and symptomless shoot colonization of *Pinus radiata* by *Fusarium circinatum*, the cause of pitch canker. For. Pathol. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/efp.12422

Thimmappa R., K. Geisler, and A. Osbourn, 2014 Triterpene biosynthesis in plants triterpene biosynthesis in plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology 65: 225-257. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-050312-120229

Tholl D., F. Chen, J. Petri, J. Gershenzon, and E. Pichersky, 2005 Two sesquiterpene synthases are responsible for the complex mixture of sesquiterpenes emitted from *Arabidopsis* flowers. Plant J. 42: 757–771. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2005.02417.x

Tholl D., 2006 Terpene synthases and the regulation, diversity and biological roles of terpene metabolism. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 9: 297–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2006.03.014

Trapp S. C., and R. B. Croteau, 2001a Genomic organization of plant terpene synthases and molecular evolutionary implications. Genetics 158: 811–832.

Trapp S., and R. Croteau, 2001b Defensive resin biosynthesis in conifers. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 52: 689–724. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.52.1.689

Trindade H., I. Sena, and A. C. Figueiredo, 2016 Characterization of α-pinene synthase gene in *Pinus pinaster* and *P. pinea* in vitro cultures and differential gene expression following *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus* inoculation. Acta Physiol. Plant. 38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-016-2159-x

Tritsch D., A. Hemmerlin, T. J. Bach, and M. Rohmer, 2010 Plant isoprenoid biosynthesis via the MEP pathway: In vivo IPP/DMAPP ratio produced by (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methylbut-2-enyl



diphosphate reductase in tobacco BY-2 cell cultures. FEBS Lett. 584: 129–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2009.11.010

Viljoen A., 1994 First Report of *Fusarium subglutinans f. sp. pini* on pine seedlings in South Africa. Plant Dis. 78: 309. https://doi.org/10.1094/PD-78-0309

Visser E. A., J. L. Wegrzyn, A. A. Myburg, and S. Naidoo, 2018 Defence transcriptome assembly and pathogenesis related gene family analysis in *Pinus tecunumanii* (low elevation). BMC Genomics 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-5015-0

Vranová E., D. Coman, and W. Gruissem, 2012 Structure and Dynamics of the isoprenoid pathway network. Mol. Plant 5: 318–333. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/sss015

Wang L., W. Xie, Y. Chen, W. Tang, J. Yang, *et al.*, 2010 A dynamic gene expression atlas covering the entire life cycle of rice. Plant J. 61: 752–766. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2009.04100.x

Warren R. L., C. I. Keeling, M. M. Saint Yuen, A. Raymond, G. A. Taylor, *et al.*, 2015 Improved white spruce (*Picea glauca*) genome assemblies and annotation of large gene families of conifer terpenoid and phenolic defense metabolism. Plant J. 83: 189–212. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.12886

Watt M. S., R. J. Ganley, D. J. Kriticos, and L. K. Manning, 2011 *Dothistroma* needle blight and pitch canker: the current and future potential distribution of two important diseases of *Pinus* species. Can. J. For. Res. 41: 412–424. https://doi.org/10.1139/X10-204

Wegrzyn J. L., J. D. Liechty, K. A. Stevens, L.-S. Wu, C. A. Loopstra, *et al.*, 2014 Unique features of the loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda L.*) megagenome revealed through sequence annotation. Genetics 196: 891–909. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.113.159996

Wen L., R. Shi, J. Wang, Y. Zhao, H. Zhang, *et al.*, 2018 Transcriptome analyses to reveal genes involved in terpene biosynthesis in resin producing pine tree *Pinus kesiya var. langbianensis*. BioResources 2020: 1852–1871.

Whitehill J. G. A., 2019 A molecular and genomic reference system for conifer defence against insects. 1–16. Plant Cell and Environ. 42: 2844-2859. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13571

Wildung M. R., and R. Croteau, 1996 A cDNA clone for taxadiene synthase, the diterpene cyclase that catalyzes the committed step of taxol biosynthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 9201–9204. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.16.9201



Wingfield M., B. Wingfield, T. Coutinho, A. Viljoen, H. Britz, *et al.*, 1999 Pitch canker: A South African perspective. Curr. potential impacts Pitch Canker Radiata Pine. Proc. IMPACT Monterey Work. Monterey, California. 30 November to 3 December 1998. 62–69.

Wingfield M. J., A. Hammerbacher, R. J. Ganley, E. T. Steenkamp, T. R. Gordon, *et al.*, 2008 Pitch canker caused by *Fusarium circinatum* - A growing threat to pine plantations and forests worldwide. Australas. Plant Pathol. 37: 319–334. https://doi.org/10.1071/AP08036

Wink M., 2014 Evolution of Secondary Metabolism in Plants, pp. 38–48 in *Ecological Biochemistry*, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim, Germany.

Witzell J., and J. A. Martín, 2008 Phenolic metabolites in the resistance of northern forest trees to pathogens — past experiences and future prospects. Can. J. For. Res. 38: 2711–2727. https://doi.org/10.1139/X08-112

Yahyaa M., Y. Matsuba, W. Brandt, A. Doron-Faigenboim, E. Bar, *et al.*, 2015 Identification, functional characterization, and evolution of terpene synthases from a basal dicot. Plant Physiol. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.15.00930

Yang J., G. Yu, S. Nam, S. Lee, and N. C. Paul, 2019 First report of *fusarium* rot caused by *Fusarium circinatum* on sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas*). 58545.

Yu F., and R. Utsumi, 2009 Diversity, regulation, and genetic manipulation of plant mono- and sesquiterpenoid biosynthesis. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 66: 3043–3052. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-009-0066-7

Zerbe P., and J. Bohlmann, 2014 Bioproducts, biofuels, and perfumes: Conifer terpene synthases and their potential for metabolic engineering. Phytochem. – Biosynthesis, Funct. Appl. Recent Adv. Phytochem. vol 44. 85–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-04045-5

Zerbe P., and J. Bohlmann, 2015 Plant diterpene synthases: Exploring modularity and metabolic diversity for bioengineering. Trends Biotechnol. 33: 419–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2015.04.006

Zhang Z. H., D. J. Jhaveri, V. M. Marshall, D. C. Bauer, J. Edson, *et al.*, 2014 A comparative study of techniques for differential expression analysis on RNA-seq data. PLoS One 9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0103207



Zhang Y., H. Yan, M. Niu, Q. Cheng, X. Zhang, *et al.*, 2018 Multiple strategies for increasing yields of essential oil and obtaining sandalwood terpenoids by biotechnological methods in sandalwood. Trees - Struct. Funct. 32: 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-017-1558-y

Zhao T., P. Krokene, J. Hu, E. Christiansen, N. Björklund, *et al.*, 2011 Induced terpene accumulation in Norway spruce inhibits bark beetle colonization in a dose-dependent manner. PLoS One 6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026649

Zimin A., K. A. Stevens, M. W. Crepeau, A. Holtz-Morris, M. Koriabine, *et al.*, 2014 Sequencing and assembly of the 22-Gb loblolly pine genome. Genetics 196: 875–890. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.113.159715

Zulak K. G., D. N. Lippert, M. A. Kuzyk, D. Domanski, T. Chou, *et al.*, 2009 Targeted proteomics using selected reaction monitoring reveals the induction of specific terpene synthases in a multi-level study of methyl jasmonate-treated Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). Plant J. 60: 1015–1030. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2009.04020.x

Zulak K. G., and J. Bohlmann, 2010 Terpenoid biosynthesis and specialized vascular cells of conifer defense. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 52: 86–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7909.2010.00910.x



# Chapter 2

# *In silico* characterisation of the terpene synthase gene families in *Pinus patula* and *Pinus tecunumanii*

Robyn L. Smith<sup>1</sup>, Erik Visser<sup>1</sup>, Martin Coetzee<sup>1</sup>, Sanushka Naidoo<sup>1</sup>

1 Department of Genetics, Forestry and Agricultural Biotechnology Institute (FABI), Genomics Research Institute (GRI), University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa

This chapter is written as a manuscript for submission to a research journal (BMC Genomics).

RLS carried out all experimental work, data generation and analysis, and prepared this manuscript. SN conceived this study and provided supervision, advice and direction at all stages of the project. MC provided support for the phylogenetic aspects of the project. EV provided transcriptome data, supervision, technical expertise and advice throughout the project.



# 2.1 Abstract

Pitch canker, caused by Fusarium circinatum (teleomorph Gibberella circinata), is regarded as one of the most severe phytopathogenic diseases affecting commercial *Pinus* plantations worldwide, and is anticipated to be aggravated by the increase in temperature and humidity associated with climate change. In South Africa, the preferred commercial pine species has been Pinus patula. The fungus causes Fusarium-wilt on seedlings and has drastically decreased the post-planting survival of seedlings. Hybridisation of P. patula with Fusarium-tolerant species such as *Pinus tecunumanii*, has led to the development of an alternative planting stock. However, the mechanisms underlying P. tecunumanii's relative resistance remains inconclusive. Previous research has highlighted the putative involvement of terpene synthases in defence against *Fusarium* spp., as their regulation is significantly altered early in response to this pathogen. RNA-seq reference transcriptomes for P. patula and P. tecunumanii have provided the much-needed genetic resources necessary to interrogate the putative defence related genes undergoing differential expression due to F. circinatum infection. The aim of this study was to determine whether observed differences in resistance between these two hosts, is correlated with induced terpene synthase gene expression profiles, and to resolve the implicated orthologs. The differential expression patterns of genes identified as terpene synthase orthologs was assessed for their potential to contribute to resistance. While the two host species, P. patula and P. tecunumanii, did appear to respond dissimilarly, this is not indicative of terpene synthesis playing a causal role in defence.

Keywords: transcriptomics, defence response, host-pathogen interaction, pitch canker, *Fusarium*-wilt, differential gene expression, *Pinus patula*, *Pinus tecunumanii*, terpene synthases



# **2.2 Introduction**

Forest trees, particularly conifers, are vulnerable to climate change because their long lifespans do not allow for quick adaptation to changes in environmental conditions (Lindner *et al.* 2010; Raitelaitytė *et al.* 2016). This is exacerbated by the fact that phytopathogenic fungal infections are characteristically dependent on humidity and temperature (Garrett *et al.* 2015). In particular, the potential impact of climate change on *F. circinatum* could increase the damage caused by pitch canker to plantations of susceptible *Pinus spp.* (Watt *et al.* 2011; Nier and Dobrza 2018; Quesada *et al.* 2019). Therefore, analysis of defensive genes in conifer species could reveal sequence variants contributing to susceptibility. This should help to elucidate the characteristics of a successful defence response, as a potential focus for genetic improvement through genetic engineering and breeding.

*Fusarium circinatum* (Nirenberg and O'Donnell 1998) poses one of the most significant and costly threats to *Pinus* and other conifer species, in both commercial and natural pine forests (Barnard and Blakeslee 1987; Wingfield *et al.* 2008; Raitelaitytė *et al.* 2016; Gordon and Reynolds 2017). The pathogen causes pitch canker on mature trees and *Fusarium*-wilt on seedlings (Iturritxa *et al.* 2011; Mitchell *et al.* 2014). *Fusarium* infection reduces the growth of the tree and increases its susceptibility to biotic and abiotic stresses (Seeve 2010; Jones *et al.* 2014; Mitchell *et al.* 2014). Infected seedlings have a high mortality rate, especially in nurseries, where cryptic root infections can be extensive (Martín-Rodrigues *et al.* 2015; Swett *et al.* 2015, 2018).

The typical defensive response to infection by *F. circinatum* in mature trees is the accumulation of oleoresin, or "pitch", at the site of infection (Dwinell 1985; Wingfield *et al.* 1999). Oleoresin is produced, and stored in dedicated anatomical structures; the cortical and xylem trauma-associated resin ducts (Trapp and Croteau 2001; Martin 2002; Krokene *et al.* 2008). When a tree's defences are triggered, the accumulated oleoresin "pitches out" of these structures to inundate the antagonist (Zulak and Bohlmann 2010). In addition, volatile constituents within the resin act as airborne signalling molecules, alerting neighbouring trees or predators of the attack (Abbas *et al.* 2017). Terpenes within the oleoresin have known antimicrobial properties for instance,  $\alpha$ -pinene disrupts the integrity of fungal cell membranes, while other monoterpenes have been shown to inhibit vital fungal enzymes (Uribe *et al.* 1985; Marei *et al.* 2012; Slinski *et al.* 2015; Iturritxa *et al.* 2017).



The efficiency with which a host tree activates its terpene defensive responses has been proposed as a reliable indication of its resistance (Zhao *et al.* 2011; Schiebe *et al.* 2012; Flø *et al.* 2018; Wen *et al.* 2018). Constitutive and induced terpene profiles are under strong genetic control and can differ greatly in both their composition and quantity, depending on tree provenance, population, or variety (Keeling *et al.* 2010; Bohlmann and Way 2012; Pham *et al.* 2014; Wen *et al.* 2018). However, mediating a suitable response requires a substantial expense of energy to coordinate modifications to numerous metabolic and signalling processes, therefore it is detrimental to the growth and development of the host (Hu *et al.* 2018).

*Fusarium circinatum* is thought to have originated in Mexico, and was first recorded in North Carolina (USA) in the 1940s (Barnard and Blakeslee 1987; Gordon *et al.* 2001; Porter 2010). The pathogen has also been reported in Haiti, South Africa, Japan, Korea, Mexico, Chile, Uruguay, Spain, France, Italy, and Portugal (Barnard and Blakeslee 1987; Wingfield *et al.* 2008; Hodge and Jetton 2010; Mead 2013; Bezos *et al.* 2017; Iturritxa *et al.* 2017). Further spread poses a significant threat to many countries were *Pinus* spp. are found naturally or grown commercially. In South Africa, *Pinus patula* has been the most prolifically grown commercial pine species (Mitchell *et al.* 2011; Fru *et al.* 2017). However, in the last few decades, cultivation and establishment of this species in plantations has been severely hampered by *Fusarium* wilt. In this country, *F. circinatum* was first reported in the 1990s, followed by several publications dealing with its biology, population structure and genomics (Viljoen 1994; Wingfield *et al.* 1999, 2008; Crous 2005; Fru *et al.* 2017; Gordon and Reynolds 2017; Van Wyk *et al.* 2018; Hongwane *et al.* 2018). Due to the importance of *F. circinatum* to South African commercial forestry, it was the first fungal pathogen genome to be sequenced (Wingfield *et al.* 2012).

Hybrids between *P. patula* and *Fusarium*-tolerant pine species have been suggested as alternative planting stock (Hodge and Dvorak 2007; Mitchell *et al.* 2011, 2012). Hybridisation of resistant *P. tecunumanii* low elevation (LE) with *P. patula* has shown promise for producing less susceptible hybrids, while maintaining wood properties (Roux *et al.* 2007; Mitchell *et al.* 2011, 2013; Ford *et al.* 2014; Kanzler *et al.* 2014; Fru *et al.* 2017; Hongwane *et al.* 2017). Unfortunately, pure *P. tecunumanii* is not a viable replacement for *P. patula* because it is prone to stem breakage in South Africa's climate; particularly the low elevation ecotypes (Hodge and Dvorak 2000; Granados *et al.* 2013; Leibing *et al.* 2013).

This study aimed to elucidate the diversity and differential expression of terpene synthase genes in conifers, with the intention to determine whether the observed genotypic differences in



resistance correlate with induced terpene synthase gene expression profiles. The quantitative and qualitative characteristics of a host's terpene profile are hypothesised to be an important determinant of its susceptibility to infection. The differences in induced responses to infection between *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii*, with contradistinctive susceptibility could elucidate the contribution of these genes. As there are no reference genomes currently available for these two *Pinus* spp., assembled RNA-sequence reference transcriptomes for *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii* (Visser *et al.* 2018), allowed transcriptomic analysis of these non-model organisms. Identification of orthologous groups of protein sequences between related *Pinus* spp. enabled the clustering of genes of related structure, and thereby function which lead to the putative annotation of genes *via* their homology with characterised ones. In addition, differential expression was assessed from RNA isolated from a similar inoculation trial (Visser 2015; Visser *et al.* 2018). Finally, an *in-silico* analysis was done with the aim to identify terpene synthase diversity in these two *Pinus* spp. in order to elucidate whether genotypic differences in resistance correlate with differences in the induced terpene synthase gene expression profiles.

# 2.3 Materials and methods

#### 2.3.1 Plant material and Fusarium circinatum infection trial

Six-month-old *P. patula* (4 individual families), *P. tecunumanii* (mixed families), as well as multiple open-pollinated families of *P. patula x P. tecunumanii* hybrid seedlings were obtained from Dr. Nicky Jones (Sappi Forests, Shaw Research Centre, Howick, KZN, Table 2.1). Before the inoculation, seedlings were allowed to acclimatise for two weeks. At the end of the acclimatisation period, the total number of surviving seedlings was 1708. Table 2.1, Table S1. The total number of pure family *Pinus patula* seedlings was 748, and *Pinus tecunumanii* 746, which allowed a statistically significant number of seedlings to be allocated to each biological replicate (BR), within both mock-inoculated and inoculated groups. This allowed for >50 seedlings per BR at each of the four time points, from which tissue was harvested, and the plant discarded. (Table S1)



The experimental design had to be adapted due to constraints introduced by the limited number of *Pinus patula* x *Pinus tecunumanii* hybrid seedlings (Table 2.1 and Table S1). While there was a total of 148 seedlings, they were dispersed over 15 hybrid open-pollinated families. The high level of variation within the hybrid group required the families to be grouped, preventing formation of balanced BR. To account for this, hybrid seedlings were inoculated (I), but no control group was kept for comparison, as in Figure 2.1. Statistical inference allowed for the estimation of mock-inoculated *Pinus patula* x *Pinus tecunumanii* hybrid control groups at each time point (Table S1).

Inoculations were conducted following the protocol of Porter (2010) and Nel *et al.* (2014). This involved removing the tip of the apical bud and placing 10µl of either the fungal inoculum, or 15% (v/v) sterile glycerol, on the wound, depending on whether the seedling is to be inoculated or mock-inoculated (Figure 2.1). *Fusarium circinatum* (isolate CMWF1217) was grown on  $\frac{1}{2}$  potato dextrose agar (PDA; Merck 1938) at 25°C for ten days. Spores were collected by surface washing with 15% (v/v) sterile glycerol. Spore concentration was quantified using a haemocytometer and adjusted to  $5 \times 10^4$  spores/mL using 15% (v/v) sterile glycerol.

<i>P. patula</i> (Individual families)	P. patula x P. tecunumanii		P. tecunumanii (Seed mix)
Р9	P9 x P. tec118 LE	P1 x P. tec23 LE	P. tec 8 LE
P17	P17 x P. tec133 LE	P16 x P. tec323 LE	P. tec 33 LE
P38	P32 x P. tec133 LE	P40 x P. tec233 LE	P. tec 323 LE
P42	P38 x P. tec323 LE	P41 x P. tec33 LE	
	P38 x P. tec133 LE	P42 x P. tec233 LE	
	P25 x P. tec23 LE	P5 x P. tec33 LE	
	P8 x P. tec23 LE	P5 x P. tec233 LE	
	P8 x P. tec33 LE		

Table 2.1: Six-month-old Pinus seedlings used in the F. circinatum inoculation trial

Tissue was harvested at 1, 3, 5, and 7 days post inoculation (dpi) for three BRs per group (Figure 2.1), flash frozen using liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until use. For each BR the top 1 cm of the shoot tissue (stem and needles) of at least three seedlings were harvested. Infection by *F. circinatum* was confirmed based on culture morphology on  $\frac{1}{2}$  PDA by re-



isolation using tissue harvested from inoculated plants at 14 dpi (Figure 2.1). Lesion lengths were recorded weekly, from a minimum of three plants per group, from one to six weeks post inoculation as a measure of disease progression (Figure 2.3). The length of clearly necrotic tissue was compared across species, by comparison of the lesioned tissue to percent of live seedling stem remaining as in Hodge and Dvorak (2007).

To test the significance of lesion development at each timepoint, a multivariate analysis of variance was carried out. Factors were imbalanced due to the experimental design, there were no mock-inoculated samples to compare to inoculated hybrid measurements (Figure 2.1 and Figure 2.3). This was necessary due to the limited number of hybrid seedlings available (Table S1). To account for the imbalance in analysis of lesion development, intra-subject models were created by collapsing unbalanced factors into group variables, specifically treatment (mock-inoculated) and species (*P. patula*, hybrid, or *P. tecunumanii*) at each time point (Figure 2.3). Analysis was conducted using the "MANOVA" function from the car package (Fox *et al.* 2007) in R 3.5.1 (R Core Team 2017), accounting for the intra-subject design. Tukey test of interactions was performed using a linear mixed effects model and Benjamini-Hochsberg false discovery rate correction (p < 0.10). The results of the Tukey are summarised in a compact letter table, in which shared letters indicate no significant difference between groups (Figure 2.3).





**Figure 2.1: Outline of infection trial layout.** Top: Six-month-old *Pinus patula* and *Pinus tecunumanii* seedlings were mock-inoculated (M) with sterile glycerol or inoculated (I) with *Fusarium circinatum* spores. Due to technical constraints, *Pinus patula X Pinus tecunumanii* hybrid seedlings were inoculated (I), but no control group was kept for comparison. Tissue was harvested at 1, 3, 5, and 7 dpi for 3 biological replicates (BR) per group. Disease progression monitored as lesion development within a separate group of seedlings for 6 weeks post-inoculation. *Fusarium circinatum* was re-isolated to confirm the presence of this fungus at 14 days post inoculation (dpi). Bottom 1: *Fusarium circinatum* spores are harvested and the apical meristem removed from the seedling. Bottom 2: Seedlings either mock-inoculated or inoculated in the same procedure.



# 2.3.2 RNA extraction and sequencing

Tissue harvested from mock-inoculated and inoculated samples (Figure 2.1) was ground in liquid nitrogen using mortar and pestles. Total RNA was extracted using Norgen's Plant/Fungi RNA Purification Kit (Norgen Biotek Corp., Thorold, ON, Canada). Modifications to the standard protocol were as follows; 100mg of frozen tissue was added to 1ml of lysis buffer preheated to 55°C. To account for additional tissue, samples were centrifuged at 14,000 x g for 2 minutes, and the resulting supernatant was transferred into filter column, RNA was stored in the elution buffer at -80°C. RNA concentration and integrity were analysed using an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Figure 2.4). Samples with an RNA Quality Index (RQI/RIN) value below 7.0 were discarded and re-isolated where possible.

Although RNA was successfully isolated from all the samples, the -80°C freezer malfunctioned prior to processing the RNA and all these samples were lost. Instead, RNA-seq data generated by Dr Erik Visser (Visser et al. 2018) was available for *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii* isolated at 3 and 7dpi from a similar inoculation trial. With the availability of this data, the investigation of the terpene synthase gene families in these pine species could still proceed (Figure 2.2).

In silico gene expression analysis was determined by Kallisto transcripts per million (TPM) abundance values. TPM values for putative terpene synthase genes were imported to R 3.6.1. Significant effect of factors was calculated using a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA, p < 0.05) with inclusion of an interaction term between timepoint and treatment, followed by a Tukey Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) post hoc test to identify significant differences between sample sets (adjusted p < 0.05). The results are shown in Figure S2.





**Figure 2.2: Summary of** *in silico* **annotation process of terpene synthase genes**. DE genes and reference proteome were obtained from Visser (2015). The differential expression patterns of genes identified as putative terpene synthase orthologs was assessed for their potential to contribute to resistance. Maximum-likelihood phylogenetic analysis was used to resolve the implicated ortholog.



#### 2.3.3 Identification of terpene synthase genes

To elucidate the potential defensive contribution based on the pattern of expression of these genes, they were putatively identified. Before performing phylogenetic analysis, the subset of transcript sequences belonging to terpene synthase orthogroups in *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii* were identified (Figure 2.2). The proteomes of several species were obtained from PLAZA, as in Shalev *et al.* (2018). This included *Arabidopsis thaliana, Populus trichocarpa, Oryza sativa japonica,* various *Pinus* spp., *Picea* spp., *Gnetum montanum,* and *Ginkgo biloba.* (Figure 2.2 and Table S1). Along with proteomes of *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii* (Visser *et al.* 2015), orthogroups across all proteomes were inferred by Orthofinder 1.1.4 (Emms and Kelly 2015). Gene families annotated as terpene synthases were confirmed by a reciprocal pBLAST approach. Both techniques enabled identification of putative terpene synthase genes within *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii*, based on sequence similarity with previously annotated terpene synthase proteome sequence data (Aubourg *et al.* 2002; Keeling and Bohlmann 2006b; Keeling *et al.* 2011; Külheim *et al.* 2015).

Through phylogenetic analysis, a total of 156 putative terpene synthase protein sequences, including those of *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii*, were putatively identified as belonging to gene families of interest and prepared for phylogenetic analysis (Figure 2.2). Sequences were aligned using MAFFT v.7 (Katoh *et al.* 2018). Transcripts were removed if they lacked certain conserved protein domains known to be important to the catalytic activity of terpene synthases (Figure 2.6) as identified by domains inferred by InterPro (Hunter *et al.* 2009).

Sequence alignments were uploaded to the CIPRES Science Gateway (Miller *et al.* 2010) and IQ-TREE (Trifinopoulos *et al.* 2016) was used to select the most appropriate evolutionary protein substitution model (Figure 2.2). RAxML v 8.2.10 (Stamatakis 2014) was used to generate a maximum-likelihood phylogeny, implementing the Jones-Taylor-Thornton (JTT) + GAMMA amino acid evolution model, with empirical base frequencies determined directly from the alignment (+F). Support for the clustering of sequences were obtained using rapid bootstrapping (Figure S1). The tree was rooted to midpoint (Figure 2.2 and Figure S1).



#### 2.3.4 Differential terpene synthase gene expression

Inoculated samples from each of the two hosts, *P. tecunumanii* and *P. patula*, were compared against their respective mock-inoculated samples with DESeq2 1.18.1 (Love *et al.* 2014), to identify differentially expressed genes (Figure 2.2; Visser *et al.* 2018). Genes that were significantly upregulated, relative to the control transcriptome of each of the species, were identified using a Wald test with the Benjamini & Hochberg false discovery rate correction (p < 0.10). For *P. patula* 323 and 7 453 significantly differentially expressed genes (Inoculated vs. Mock-Inoculated) were identified at 3 and 7 dpi respectively, while 735 and 2 499 significantly differentially expressed genes were identified for *P. tecunumanii* (Visser *et al.* 2018).

#### **2.4 Results**

#### 2.4.1 Fusarium circinatum infection trial

Inoculation with *F. circinatum* produced significantly longer necrotic lesions in *P. patula* as compared to *P. tecunumanii* and the hybrid seedlings (Figure 2.3). There were no significant differences in necrosis lengths between *P. tecunumanii* and the hybrid seedlings (Figure 2.3).





**Figure 2.3: Comparative necrotic lesion lengths induced by** *Fusarium circinatum* **on inoculated** *Pinus* **seedlings. A:** Lesion development as indicated as percentage live stem, over time for seedlings. Error bars represent the standard errors of the means. Compact letter table indicates associations between groups based on Tukey results, where shared letters indicate no significant difference between groups. **B:** Representative *P. patula* (left) and *P. tecunumanii* (right) inoculated seedlings 42dpi (days post inoculation).





**Figure 2.4: Representative results of RNA integrity assessment** by Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer of samples from *P. tecunumanii* (left) and *P. patula* (right) harvested at 5dpi. Both samples were of satisfactory integrity, having RQI/RIN values >7.0.

#### 2.4.2 Putative terpene synthase gene identification

The alteration of terpene synthase gene expression by each host in response to the pathogen is evidently distinct. Figure 2.5 shows a subset of the phylogenetic tree constructed to further classify and annotate these transcripts according to characterised conifer terpene synthase transcripts. The number of putative terpene synthases responding to *F. circinatum* infection was nine in *P. patula*, compared to six in *P. tecunumanii* (Figure 2.5). Most of the genes expressed in *P. tecunumanii* had corresponding orthologs in *P. patula*. The only gene identified as being upregulated in *P. tecunumanii* for which a corresponding ortholog was not differentially regulated in *P. patula* was transcript 'Pnte25LSn\_DN87317\_c0\_g2', annotated as a gamma-bisabolene synthase (Figure 2.5). *Pinus tecunumanii* orthologs were not identified for four of the genes differentially expressed as part of the defence response in *P. patula*. This included the downregulation in *P. patula* of two transcripts 'Pipt31HSn\_DN242281\_c0\_g', a cineole synthase, and 'Pipt31HS\_DN235878\_c0\_g1', a monofunctional pimaradiene synthase. Interestingly, this putative pimaradiene synthase is the only diterpene synthase identified as being involved in the defence response (Figure 2.5). Two other genes identified exclusively in



*P. patula*, 'Pipt31HSn\_DN207510\_c1\_g1' and 'Pipt25HSn \_DN220074\_c0\_g4', both being putative sesquiterpene synthases, were downregulated at 7- days post inoculation.

All sets of orthologous transcripts were identified as being differentially regulated in both hosts as a result of F. circinatum infection (Figure 2.5). Including, transcripts 'Pipt25LSn DN279416 c1 g3' and 'Pnte31HSn DN77088 c0 g5', which putatively encode orthologous alpha-humulene synthases in P. patula and P. tecunumanii, respectively. It is worth noting that while *P. tecunumanii* responded by strongly upregulating the transcription of alpha-humulene synthase at both 3- and 7-days post infection, P. patula responded in the reverse, downregulating this transcripts expression at the later of the two time points (Figure 2.5). Although less strongly regulated, another instance of contradistinctive response in P. patula and P. tecunumanii is the regulation of another pair of orthologous genes. These genes encoded alpha-pinene synthases and represented by the transcripts 'Pipt31HSn\_DN236119\_c0\_g2' and 'Pnte25LS\_DN112020\_c3\_g1' respectively. In this study, alpha-pinene synthase gene expression was upregulated in P. tecunumanii but downregulated in P. patula (Figure 2.5).

There were six transcripts identified as encoding putative farnesene synthases, three alphafarnesene, and three beta-farnesene synthases (Figure 2.5). This included a pair of alpha-Р. patula; 'Pipt25LS\_DN334024\_c3\_g4', farnesene synthases within and 'Pipt31HS\_DN265815\_c0\_g3', a single alpha-farnesene synthase 'Pnte31LSn\_DN97191\_c0\_g1' is identified as being upregulated in *P. tecunumanii*. The inferred primary structure of two of these putative alpha-farnesene synthases are shown in more detail in Figure 2.6. The other triplet of orthologous genes putatively annotated as encoding beta-farnesene synthases, included a single transcript, 'Pipt31HS\_DN278168\_c4\_g1' in P. patula, and a paralogous pair in P. tecunumanii, 'Pnte25LSncg\_GG\_4275\_c0\_g1' and 'Pnte31HSn\_DN82496\_c0\_g3' (Figure 2.5 and Figure S1).







Figure 2.5: Phylogenetic analysis of putative terpene synthases response in *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii* to allow their partial characterisation. The putative terpene synthase genes significantly differentially expressed in the inoculated seedlings at least one of the two timepoints of interest as shown as  $log_2$ (Fold Change) values in boxes next to highlighted terminal nodes (left and right boxes showing 3-, and 7 days post inoculation respectively). All internal nodes are supported by >80% bootstrapping.



**Figure 2.6: Primary structures of putative alpha-farnesene synthase orthologs** Pipt31HS\_DN265815\_c0\_g3 in *P. patula* and Pnte31LSn\_DN97191\_c0\_g1in *P. tecunumanii* (top and bottom respectively). These orthologs are regulated in opposite directions by each host responding to the same pathogen. Conserved protein domains known to be important to the catalytic activity of terpene synthases identified by InterPro are shown.



#### 2.4.3 Defensive gene expression in P. patula and P. tecunumanii

The variance in expression of putative terpene synthase genes, by the two host species, was compared to quantify their defence response when challenged by *F. circinatum*. Gene expression recognised as being incongruent with the respective control expression was attributed to the defensive response and was compared between the two hosts (Figure 2.2). These genes were those which displayed at least a 0.7 log<sub>2</sub>(Fold Change) alteration in expression, in either direction, when compared to the mock inoculated control group (-0.70 < log<sub>2</sub>(Fold Change) > 0.70). This study found eight putative terpene synthase gene orthogroups to be significantly differentially expressed by either host, at 3- and/or 7- dpi with *F. circinatum* (Figure 2.5).

#### **2.5 Discussion**

The production of a diverse suite of terpene molecules is a prominent chemical and physical defence system of *Pinaceae* (Keeling and Bohlmann 2006a; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Zhao *et al.* 2011). Earlier research has shown that *Pinus* spp. differ in terpene defensive properties that could influence their relative susceptibility, such as constitutive terpenoid composition or lower induced terpene production (Arango-Velez *et al.* 2016). There has been increasing research focussing on the transcriptional and phenotypical terpene response by predominant *Pinus* spp. against phytopathogenic fungi colonisation (Storer *et al.* 1998; Erbilgin and Colgan 2012; Mead 2013; Wang *et al.* 2014; Raitelaitytė *et al.* 2016; Arango-velez *et al.* 2018; Hammerbacher *et al.* 2019; Woranoot *et al.* 2019). The defence strategies, which have diversified within each lineage, differ in their relative efficacy to resist infection by *F. circinatum.* Specifically, the qualitative and quantitative characteristics of the host's terpene profile is an important determinant of the susceptibility of *Pinus* spp. to *F. circinatum* (Dvorak *et al.* 2009; Seeve 2010; Kanzler *et al.* 2012; Swett *et al.* 2018, 2014; Carrasco *et al.* 2017; Gordon and Reynolds 2017; Amaral *et al.* 2019; Chen *et al.* 2019; Lombardero *et al.* 2019; Reynolds and Gordon 2019).

In this study, we focused on the transcriptional consequences to terpene synthase gene expression in two *Pinus* spp. initiated by the fungal pathogen *F. circinatum* (Figure 2.2). The



more susceptible of the two species, *P. patula*, is still of considerable importance to local agriculture, although often at huge economic expense due to its acute susceptibility to *Fusarium*-wilt (Figure 2.3). (Mitchell *et al.* 2011; Wingfield *et al.* 2012; Fru *et al.* 2018; Hongwane *et al.* 2018; Mabaso *et al.* 2019). This pathogen is making commercial reliance on this species difficult, so research into resistance breeding is increasingly becoming important. The second species that we have included, *P. tecunumanii* (LE), is currently of little agricultural significance in South Africa, but is relatively resistant to *F. circinatum* (Hodge and Dvorak 2000; Mitchell *et al.* 2012; Hongwane *et al.* 2018). Differences can be observed by comparative lesion development between *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii* seedlings that have been colonised by *F. circinatum* (Figure 2.3). The aim of this study was then to determine whether these difference in relative susceptibility, is correlated with discrepancies in the transcriptional regulation of putative terpene synthase genes.

It must be noted that terpene synthase product profiles cannot be accurately predicted based on sequence analysis alone. Correlation of enzymes with similar structures previously characterised, have allowed annotation for of the genes identified in this study. However, there is always the possibility that two highly dissimilar terpene synthases share a similar product profile. An instance of this was observed by Bohlmann *et al.* (1997), when comparing the limonene synthase of *Mentha spicata* (spearmint) to that of *Abies grandis*. The two enzymes produced the same terpene products, although they share less than a third of their sequence identities with one another (Bohlmann *et al.* 1997). Nevertheless, we can gain insight into the characteristic response of each host by assessing characterised functions of orthologous enzymes.

#### 2.5.1 Comparative necrotic lesion development

The relative seedling tolerances of *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii*, as well as the predicted intermediate tolerance of *P. patula* x *P. tecunumanii* hybrid families, was initially assessed by measuring development of lesions (Figure 2.3). The proportionate progression of the lesioned stem was compared statistically to gain insights into each species' defence responses. Significantly longer necrotic lesions were observed in *P. patula*, when compared to *P. tecunumanii* were observed, as was expected in accordance with previous research (Hodge and Dvorak 2000; Kanzler *et al.* 2014; Visser *et al.* 2015). Interestingly, while the lesions of *P.* 



*patula* continued to develop throughout the observation period, by 42dpi, *P. tecunumanii* had largely recovered and was beginning to establish new growth (Figure 2.3).

Instead of the hybrid seedlings having an intermediate susceptibility to *F. circinatum*, as could have been expected (Kanzler *et al.* 2014), no significant increase in hybrid necrotic lesion lengths were observed compared to those in *P. tecunumanii* (Figure 2.3). This is likely due to the hybrid seedlings having been a few months older than the pure parent species. Hybrid seedlings were therefore slightly larger, and presumably had more established defence systems. However, it is not unusual for the rate of lesion development in hybrid genotypes to be equivalent to *P. tecunumanii*. The severe rate of lesion development in *P. patula* seedlings is seldom observed among hybrid species (Kanzler *et al.* 2014).

#### 2.5.2 Defensive contribution of terpene synthase gene expression

Two sets of annotated homologs, a pair of alpha-farnesene synthases in *P. patula*, and betafarnesene synthases in *P. tecunumanii*, were found to contain similar sequences to each other. This would suggest that paralogous pairs represent nearly identical allelic variants, or recently duplicated genes within each of the host genomes. Interestingly, the alpha-farnesene synthase paralogs annotated in *P. tecunumanii* appear to be more closely related to one of the alphafarnesene synthases in *P. patula*, than the two *P. patula* paralogs are to each other. The betafarnesene genes identified within *P. patula* were also sequentially very similar to their respective orthologs in *P. tecunumanii*.

The monoterpene alpha-pinene synthase has been fully annotated in *Pinus taeda*, and its product profile is understood to predominantly compromise of alpha-pinene (~80%), with small amounts of beta-pinene (Phillips *et al.* 2003). *Pinus taeda* is relatively closely-related to the two species considered in this study (De La Torre *et al.* 2014; Visser 2015). It can thus be assumed that the increased upregulation of alpha-pinene synthase in *P. tecunumanii* results in an increased concentration of alpha-pinene. The other monoterpene, namely cineole synthase, has been functionally characterised in spruce (*Picea sitchensis* and *Picea glauca*). This enzyme has been determined being a multi-product enzyme (Keeling *et al.* 2011). The importance of this enzyme to the contribution of resistance is likely minimal as it was not significantly differentially regulated in *P. tecunumanii*, and only slightly decreased expression in *P. patula* (-0.72 log<sub>2</sub>(Fold Change)).



The potential for significant contribution by the sesquiterpene fraction in pathogen defence is interesting because these molecules constitute less than 10% of the oleoresin (Steele *et al.* 1998). However, sesquiterpene volatiles are known as allelochemicals (Wedge *et al.* 2000), and contribute to both indirect (Schnee *et al.* 2006), and direct defences against plant pathogens (Bohlmann *et al.* 1998a; Park *et al.* 2014; Pham *et al.* 2014). The inducible production of sesquiterpenes, via transcriptional upregulation of sesquiterpene synthase, has been shown to be significant toward phytopathogenic defence (Piesik *et al.* 2011; Park *et al.* 2014; da Luz *et al.* 2017; Woranoot *et al.* 2019). Sesquiterpenes include photosensitizers, which once activated, enzymatically or by light, produce highly reactive free radicals (Ashour *et al.*; Burden and Kemp 1984; Pearce 1996). In particular, many sesquiterpene lactones have been shown to exhibit antifungal activity when introduced to phytopathogenic *Fusarium* spp. (Wedge *et al.* 2000).

In an earlier study, analysis of alpha-humulene synthase orthologs in *Pinus sylvestris* and *P*. sitchensis has shown similar product profiles, with the two major products being alphahumulene and beta-caryophyllene (Keeling et al. 2011). The alpha-humulene synthase gene is seemingly highly significant in the relative susceptibility of *P. patula* to *F. circinatum* as these orthologs show the most dissimilar expression patterns. Farnesene synthases have been characterised in P. sitchensis and P. sylvestris, and their products have been shown to be predominantly alpha- and beta-farnesene (Ralph et al. 2006; Köpke et al. 2010). The final sesquiterpene that was observed, gamma-bisabolene synthase, has been characterised in Abies grandis, and is associated with the synthesis of gamma-bisabolene, as well as the monoterpene limonene (Bohlmann et al. 1998b; Steele et al. 1998). These enzymatic product profiles are, by reference, relatively similar to those of annotated genes identified within *P. patula* and *P.* tecunumanii. Monofunctional pimaradiene and iso-pimaradiene synthases, characterised in Pinus banksiana and Pinus contorta, were earlier shown to contribute marginally to the diterpene fraction of oleoresin (Hall et al. 2013b). Therefore, in accordance with previous research (Byun-McKay et al. 2006), the relative susceptibility of P. patula appears to be primarily dependent on the expression of mono- and sesquiterpene genes.


#### 2.5.3 Differential gene expression 3- and 7-days post infection (dpi)

Visser *et al.* (2018) observed greatest defensive transcriptional variation between *P. tecunumanii* and *P. patula* during the early stages of colonisation by *F. circinatum*. The defence response induced by *F. circinatum* was distinguished from other influences on gene expression, such as by mechanical wounding during inoculation, by comparison with mock-inoculated controls of each species (Figure 2.1). Differentially expressed terpene synthase genes that were identified in *P. patula and P. tecunumanii* were split across three orthogroups (Figure 2.5). The largest group contained sequences putatively annotated as sesquiterpene synthases. These terpene synthase genes grouped into the major TPS-d1, TPS-d2 and, TPS-d3 clades according to their likely orthologs (Table 1.1, Chapter 1). Identified mono- and sesquiterpenes belonged to TPS-d1 clade, which includes alpha-pinene synthases, and farnesene synthases. The TPS-d2 clade is composed of enzymes such as longifolene synthases; none of these were identified in this study. Finally, the single pimaradiene synthase belongs to the TPS-d3 clade (Figure 2.5 and Figure S1).

The observation is that *P. patula* differentially regulated nine putative terpene synthase genes in comparison to only six in *P. tecunumanii*. However, it should be considered that while all six genes identified in *P. tecunumanii* are upregulated, only three of the genes in *P. patula*'s nine are upregulated (Figure 2.5 and Figure S2). Therefore, we could hypothesise that while *P. patula* responds by altering the expression of a wider range of terpene synthases, it is not necessarily investing greater resources than *P. tecunumanii*. Comparison of their constituent, and induced terpene concentrations will be important to determine how the altered expression builds on the chemistry of the oleoresin (Keeling *et al.* 2010; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010; Hall *et al.* 2013a; Trindade *et al.* 2016; Mitić *et al.* 2017; Bullington *et al.* 2018; Kshatriya *et al.* 2018; Lombardero *et al.* 2019).

The putative monoterpene synthase alpha-pinene, was upregulated at 7dpi in inoculated *P. tecunumanii* seedlings (Figure 2.5 and Figure S2). At 7dpi, *P. patula* responded more substantially, altering the expression of all nine putatively annotated genes (Figure 2.5). Starting with the upregulation of a single alpha-farnesene synthase gene at 3dpi and augmenting this response at 7dpi. This includes downregulating a pair of putative monoterpene synthases, alpha-pinene and cineole synthase, altering the expression of numerous sesquiterpene synthases, and remarkably, upregulating a putative diterpene, mono-functional pimaradiene



synthase. At 7dpi the same genes in *P. tecunumanii* continued to respond as at 3dpi, an additional transcript observed at 7dpi was upregulation of alpha-pinene synthase (Figure 2.5). The first two of *P. tecunumanii*'s four sesquiterpene synthase transcripts could only be annotated as putative sesquiterpene synthases, and no orthologous transcripts were identified as being altered in *P. tecunumanii*. The third and final sesquiterpene gene observed to have been downregulated by *P. patula* at 7dpi, alpha-humulene synthase, is of the most interest. This alpha-humulene synthase is the most differently transcriptionally regulated gene by both *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii*, though, the two hosts differ in the direction in which they regulate its expression (Figure 2.5 and Figure S2).

### **2.6 Conclusions**

This study has allowed the partial characterisation, based on functional genomics, of the terpene synthase genes implicated in defence against *F. circinatum* in two *Pinus* spp. that are important to the local forestry. In conclusion, *P. tecunumanii* was observed to have upregulated the transcription of five putative sesquiterpene synthase transcripts (Figure 2.5), which could suggest increased sesquiterpene concentrations (Lombardero *et al.* 2019). By comparison, it can be argued that no significant increase in sesquiterpene concentrations was observed in *P. patula* (Figure 2.5). In fact, *P. patula* was observed to upregulate three sesquiterpene synthases, the same number as downregulated (Figure 2.5). Yet, no direct correlation has been found between the terpene constituents of host oleoresin and its susceptibility to *F. circinatum* (Marei *et al.* 2012; Slinski *et al.* 2015; Iturritxa *et al.* 2017; Roth *et al.* 2018).

#### 2.7 Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Dr. Nicky Jones and Sappi Forests at the Shaw Research Centre for providing the plant material. Thank you to Dr. Erik Visser for assistance with the transcriptome data. Thank you to the National Research Foundation (NRF) and Technology and Human Resources for Industry Programme (THRIP) for funding the study.



### **2.8 References**

- Abbas F., Y. Ke, R. Yu, Y. Yue, S. Amanullah, *et al.*, 2017 Volatile terpenoids: multiple functions, biosynthesis, modulation to elucidate the potential defensive contribution based on the pattern of expression of these gene. Planta 246: 803–816.
- Amaral J., B. Correia, C. António, A. M. Rodrigues, A. Gómez-Cadenas, *et al.*, 2019 *Pinus* susceptibility to pitch canker triggers specific physiological responses in symptomatic plants: An integrated approach. Front. Plant Sci. 10: 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00509
- Arango-velez A., S. Chakraborty, K. Blascyk, M. T. Phan, J. Barsky, et al., 2018 Anatomical and chemical responses of Eastern white pine (*Pinus strobus L.*) to blue-stain (*Ophiostoma* minus) inoculation. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9110690
- Arango-Velez A., W. El Kayal, C. C. J. Copeland, L. I. Zaharia, I. Lusebrink, *et al.*, 2016 Differences in defence responses of *Pinus contorta* and *Pinus banksiana* to the mountain pine beetle fungal associate *Grosmannia clavigera* are affected by water deficit. Plant Cell Environ. 39: 726–744. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12615
- Ashour M., M. Wink, and J. Gershenzon, Biochemistry of Terpenoids: Monoterpenes, Sesquiterpenes and Diterpenes, pp. 258–303 in *Biochemistry of Plant Secondary Metabolism*, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK.
- Aubourg S., A. Lecharny, and J. Bohlmann, 2002 Genomic analysis of the terpenoid synthase (AtTPS) gene family of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Mol. Genet. Genomics 267: 730–745. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00438-002-0709-y
- Barnard E. L., and G. M. Blakeslee, 1987 Pitch canker of southern pines. Plant Pathol. Circ. No. 302 1987: 1–11.
- Bezos D., P. Martínez-Alvarez, M. Fernández, and J. J. Diez, 2017 Epidemiology and management of pine pitch canker disease in Europe A review. Balt. For. 23: 279–293.
- Bohlmann J., C. L. Steele, and R. Croteau, 1997 Monoterpene synthases from grand fir (*Abies grandis*). J. Biol. Chem. 272: 21784–21792. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.35.21784
- Bohlmann J., J. Crock, R. Jetter, and R. Croteau, 1998a Terpenoid-based defenses in conifers: cDNA cloning, characterization, and functional expression of wound-inducible (E)-alphabisabolene synthase from grand fir (*Abies grandis*). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95: 6756–61. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.12.6756
- Bohlmann J., G. Meyer-Gauen, and R. Croteau, 1998b Plant terpenoid synthases: Molecular biology and phylogenetic analysis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 95: 4126–4133. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.8.4126
- Bohlmann J., and D. Way, 2012 Pine terpenoid defences in the mountain pine beetle epidemic and in other conifer pest interactions: Specialized enemies are eating holes into a diverse, dynamic and durable defence system. Tree Physiol. 32: 943–945. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tps065



- Bullington L. S., Y. Lekberg, R. Sniezko, and B. Larkin, 2018 The influence of genetics, defensive chemistry and the fungal microbiome on disease outcome in whitebark pine trees. Mol. Plant Pathol. 9: 1847–1858. https://doi.org/10.1111/mpp.12663
- Burden R. S., and M. S. Kemp, 1984 Sesquiterpene phytoalexins from *Ulmus glabra*. Phytochemistry 23: 383–385.
- Byun-McKay A., K.-A. Godard, M. Toudefallah, D. M. Martin, R. Alfaro, *et al.*, 2006 Woundinduced terpene synthase gene expression in *Sitka spruce* that exhibit resistance or susceptibility to attack by the white pine weevil. Plant Physiol. 140: 1009–1021. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.105.071803
- Carrasco A., J. L. Wegrzyn, R. Durán, M. Fernández, A. Donoso, *et al.*, 2017 Expression profiling in *Pinus radiata* infected with *Fusarium circinatum*. Tree Genet. Genomes 13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11295-017-1125-0
- Celedon J. M., and J. Bohlmann, 2017 An extended model of heartwood secondary metabolism informed by functional genomics. Tree Physiol. 38: 1–9. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1111/tpj.13162
- Celedon J. M., and J. Bohlmann, 2019 Oleoresin defenses in conifers: chemical diversity, terpene synthases and limitations of oleoresin defense under climate change. New Phytol. nph.15984. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15984
- Chen R., Y. Li, K. Huang, H. Li, H. Chen, *et al.*, 2019 Time-course transcriptomic study of phenolic metabolism and P450 enzymes in *Pinus massoniana Lamb*. after feeding by *Monochamus alternatus*. Scand. J. For. Res. 0: 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2019.1628295
- Coutinho T. A., E. T. Steenkamp, K. Mongwaketsi, M. Wilmot, M. J. Wingfield, *et al.*, 2007 First outbreak of pitch canker in a South African pine plantation. Australas. Plant Pathol. Pitch cank: 256–261. https://doi.org/10.1071/AP07017
- Dvorak W. S., K. M. Potter, V. D. Hipkins, and G. R. Hodge, 2009 Genetic diversity and gene exchange in *Pinus oocarpa*, a mesoamerican pine with resistance to the pitch canker fungus (*Fusarium circinatum*). 170: 609–626. https://doi.org/10.1086/597780
- Dwinell L. D., 1985 Pitch canker: A disease complex of southern pines. Plant Dis. 69: 270. https://doi.org/10.1094/PD-69-270
- Emms D. M., and S. Kelly, 2015 OrthoFinder: solving fundamental biases in whole genome comparisons dramatically improves orthogroup inference accuracy. Genome Biol. 16: 1– 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0721-2
- Erbilgin N., and L. J. Colgan, 2012 Differential effects of plant ontogeny and damage type on phloem and foliage monoterpenes in jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*). Tree Physiol. 32: 946–957. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tps047
- Flø D., H. R. Norli, B. Økland, and P. Krokene, 2018 Successful reproduction and pheromone production by the spruce bark beetle in evolutionary naïve spruce hosts with familiar terpenoid defences. Agric. For. Entomol. https://doi.org/10.1111/afe.12280
- Ford C. M., N. B. Jones, and P. W. Chirwa, 2014 *Pinus patula* and pine hybrid hedge productivity in South Africa: a comparison between two vegetative propagation systems exposed to natural infection by *Fusarium circinatum*. South. For. a J. For. Sci. 2620: 1–9. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2014.916501



- Fox J., G. G. Friendly, S. Graves, R. Heiberger, G. Monette, *et al.*, 2007 The car package. R Found. Stat. Comput.
- Fru F. F., E. T. Steenkamp, M. J. Wingfield, Q. C. Santana, and J. Roux, 2017 Unique clones of the pitch canker fungus, *Fusarium circinatum*, associated with a new disease outbreak in South Africa. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 148: 97–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-016-1073-9
- Fru F. F., E. T. Steenkamp, M. J. Wingfield, J. Roux, F. F. Fru, et al., 2018 High genetic diversity of *Fusarium circinatum* associated with the first outbreak of pitch canker on *Pinus patula* in South Africa. 2620. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2018.1496312
- Garrett K. A., M. Nita, E. D. De Wolf, P. D. Esker, L. Gomez-Montano, *et al.*, 2015 Plant pathogens as indicators of climate change, pp. 325–338 in *Climate Change (Second Edition)*, Elsevier.
- Gordon T. R., a. J. Storer, and D. L. Wood, 2001 The pitch canker epidemic in California. Plant Dis. 85: 1128–1139. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS.2001.85.11.1128
- Gordon T. R., C. L. Swett, and M. J. Wingfield, 2015 Management of *Fusarium* diseases affecting conifers. Crop Prot. 73: 28–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2015.02.018
- Gordon T. R., and G. J. Reynolds, 2017 Plasticity in plant-microbe interactions: a perspective based on the pitch canker pathosystem. Phytoparasitica 45: 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12600-016-0558-6
- Granados C., D. Alberto, G. R. Hodge, and W. S. Dvorak, 2013 Geographical variation of cold hardiness in *Pinus patula* provenances and genetic inheritance of cold hardiness in *Pinus patula* × *Pinus tecunumanii* hybrids. 60.
- Green P. W. C., M. A. Hamilton, R. Fang, and M. D. Sanchez, 2017 Phenotypic plasticity in the emission of terpenes by a threatened pine species (*Pinus caribaea var. bahamensis*): Effects of scale infestation and environment. Forestry 553–560. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpx013
- Hall D. E., M. M. S. Yuen, S. Jancsik, A. L. Quesada, H. K. Dullat, *et al.*, 2013a Transcriptome resources and functional characterization of monoterpene synthases for two host species of the mountain pine beetle, lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) and jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*). BMC Plant Biol. 13: 80. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-13-80
- Hall D. E., P. Zerbe, S. Jancsik, A. L. Quesada, H. Dullat, *et al.*, 2013b Evolution of conifer diterpene synthases: Diterpene resin acid biosynthesis in lodgepole pine and jack pine involves monofunctional and bifunctional diterpene synthases. Plant Physiol. 161: 600– 616. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.112.208546
- Hammerbacher A., D. Kandasamy, C. Ullah, and A. Schmidt, 2019 Flavanone-3-hydroxylase plays an important role in the biosynthesis of spruce phenolic defenses against bark beetles and their fungal associates. Front. Plant Sci. 10: 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00208
- Harman-Ware A. E., M. F. Davis, G. F. Peter, Y. Wang, and R. W. Sykes, 2017 Estimation of terpene content in loblolly pine biomass using a hybrid fast-GC and pyrolysis-molecular beam mass spectrometry method. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis 124: 343–348.
- Hodge G. R., and W. S. Dvorak, 2000 Differential responses of Central American and Mexican pine species and *Pinus radiata* to infection by the pitch canker fungus. New For. 19: 241–



258. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006613021996

- Hodge G. R., and W. S. Dvorak, 2007 Variation in pitch canker resistance among provenances of *Pinus patula* and *Pinus tecunumanii* from Mexico and Central America. New For. 33: 193–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-006-9023-6
- Hongwane P. C., R. G. Mitchell, A. Kanzler, S. D. Verryn, and P. W. C. Chirwa, 2017 Growth and dynamic modulus of elasticity of *Pinus patula* × *Pinus tecunumanii* hybrids in Mpumalanga, South Africa. South. For. 79: 277–285. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2016.1254899
- Hongwane P., G. Mitchell, A. Kanzler, S. Verryn, J. Lopez, *et al.*, 2018 Alternative pine hybrids and species to *Pinus patula* and *P. radiata* in South Africa and Swaziland. South. For. 80: 301–310. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2017.1393744
- Hu B., H. Sakakibara, M. Kojima, Y. Takebayashi, J. Bußkamp, *et al.*, 2018 Consequences of Sphaeropsis tip blight disease for the phytohormone profile and antioxidative metabolism of its pine host. Plant Cell Environ. 41: 737–754. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13118
- Huber D. P. W., S. Ralph, and J. Bohlmann, 2004 Genomic hardwiring and phenotypic plasticity of terpenoid-based defenses in conifers. J. Chem. Ecol. 30: 2399–2418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-004-7942-2
- Hunter S., R. Apweiler, T. K. Attwood, A. Bairoch, A. Bateman, *et al.*, 2009 InterPro: the integrative protein signature database. Nucleic Acids Res. 37: D211–D215. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn785
- Iturritxa E., R. J. Ganley, J. Wright, E. Heppe, E. T. Steenkamp, *et al.*, 2011 A genetically homogenous population of *Fusarium circinatum* causes pitch canker of *Pinus radiata* in the Basque Country, Spain. Fungal Biol. 115: 288–295.
- Iturritxa E., T. Trask, N. Mesanza, R. Raposo, M. Elvira-Recuenco, et al., 2017 Biocontrol of Fusarium circinatum infection of young Pinus radiata Trees. Forests 8: 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/f8020032
- Jones N. B., C. M. Ford, M. E. Light, R. L. Nadel, I. Greyling, *et al.*, 2014 Effect on nursery and field performance of *Pinus patula* seedlings after inoculation with *Fusarium circinatum*. South. J. For Sci. 76: 125–136. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2014.916503
- Kanzler A., K. Payn, and A. Nel, 2012 Performance of two *Pinus patula* hybrids in southern Africa. South. J. For. Sci. 74: 19–25. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2012.683639
- Kanzler A., A. Nel, and C. Ford, 2014 Development and commercialisation of the *Pinus patula x P. tecunumanii* hybrid in response to the threat of *Fusarium circinatum*. New For. 45: 417–437. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-014-9412-1
- Katoh K., J. Rozewicki, and K. D. Yamada, 2018 MAFFT online service : multiple sequence alignment, interactive sequence choice and visualization. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbx108
- Keeling C. I., and J. Bohlmann, 2006a Genes, enzymes and chemicals of terpenoid diversity in the constitutive and induced defence of conifers against insects and pathogens. New Phytol. 170: 657–675. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01716.x
- Keeling C. I., and J. Bohlmann, 2006b Diterpene resin acids in conifers. Phytochemistry 67:



2415–2423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.08.019

- Keeling C. I., H. K. Dullat, M. Yuen, S. G. Ralph, S. Jancsik, *et al.*, 2010 Identification and functional characterization of monofunctional ent-copalyl diphosphate and ent-kaurene synthases in white spruce reveal different patterns for diterpene synthase evolution for primary and secondary metabolism in gymnosperms. Plant Physiol. 152: 1197–1208. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.151456
- Keeling C. I., S. Weisshaar, S. G. Ralph, S. Jancsik, B. Hamberger, *et al.*, 2011 Transcriptome mining, functional characterization, and phylogeny of a large terpene synthase gene family in spruce (*Picea* spp.). BMC Plant Biol. 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-11-43
- Köpke D., I. Beyaert, J. Gershenzon, M. Hilker, and A. Schmidt, 2010 Species-specific responses of pine sesquiterpene synthases to sawfly oviposition. Phytochemistry 71: 909– 917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2010.03.017
- Krokene P., N. E. Nagy, and T. Krekling, 2008 Traumatic resin ducts and polyphenolic parenchyma cells in conifers, pp. 147–169 in *Induced Plant Resistance to Herbivory*, Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Kshatriya K., J. G. A. Whitehill, L. Madilao, H. Henderson, A. Kermode, *et al.*, 2018 Histology of resin vesicles and oleoresin terpene composition of conifer seeds. Can. J. For. Res. 1–24.
- Külheim C., A. Padovan, C. Hefer, S. T. Krause, T. G. Köllner, *et al.*, 2015 The *Eucalyptus* terpene synthase gene family. BMC Genomics 16: 450. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1598-x
- La Torre A. R. De, I. Birol, J. Bousquet, P. K. Ingvarsson, S. Jansson, *et al.*, 2014 Insights into conifer giga-genomes. Plant Physiol. 166: 1724–1732. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.114.248708
- Leibing C., J. Signer, M. Van Zonneveld, A. Jarvis, and W. Dvorak, 2013 Selection of provenances to adapt tropical pine forestry to climate change on the basis of climate analogs. Forests 4: 155–178.
- Lindner M., M. Maroschek, S. Netherer, A. Kremer, A. Barbati, *et al.*, 2010 Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. For. Ecol. Manage. 259: 698–709.
- Lombardero M. J., A. Solla, and M. P. Ayres, 2019 Forest ecology and management; Pine defenses against the pitch canker disease are modulated by a native insect newly associated with the invasive fungus. For. Ecol. Manage. 437: 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.01.041
- Luz S. F. M. da, L. F. Yamaguchi, M. J. Kato, O. F. de Lemos, L. P. Xavier, *et al.*, 2017 Secondary metabolic profiles of two cultivars of *Piper nigrum* (black pepper) resulting from infection by *Fusarium solani f. sp. piperis*. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18: 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18122434
- Mabaso F., H. Ham, and A. Nel, 2019 Frost tolerance of various *Pinus* pure species and hybrids. South. For. 2620. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2019.1615212
- Marei G. I. K., M. A. A. Rasoul, and S. A. M. Abdelgaleil, 2012 Comparative antifungal activities and biochemical effects of monoterpenes on plant pathogenic fungi. Pestic.



Biochem. Physiol. 103: 56-61.

- Martín-Rodrigues N., S. Espinel, J. Sanchez-Zabala, A. Ortíz, C. González-Murua, et al., 2013 Spatial and temporal dynamics of the colonization of *Pinus radiata* by *Fusarium circinatum*, of conidiophora development in the pith and of traumatic resin duct formation. New Phytol. 198: 1215–1227. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12222
- Martín-Rodrigues N., J. Sanchez-Zabala, I. Salcedo, J. Majada, C. González-Murua, *et al.*, 2015 New insights into radiata pine seedling root infection by *Fusarium circinatum*. Plant Pathol. 64. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.12376
- Martin D., 2002 Methyl jasmonate induces traumatic resin ducts, terpenoid resin biosynthesis, and terpenoid accumulation in developing xylem of Norway spruce stems. Plant Physiol. 129: 1003–1018. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.011001
- Merck, 1938 PDA, pp. 33-35 in Merck Microbiology Manual.
- Miller M. A., W. Pfeiffer, and T. Schwartz, 2010 Creating the CIPRES Science Gateway for inference of large phylogenetic trees. 2010 Gatew. Comput. Environ. Work. GCE 2010. https://doi.org/10.1109/GCE.2010.5676129
- Mitchell R. G., E. T. Steenkamp, T. a Coutinho, and M. J. Wingfield, 2011 The pitch canker fungus, *Fusarium circinatum*: Implications for South African forestry. South. For. 73: 1– 13. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2011.574828
- Mitchell R., T. Coutinho, E. Steenkamp, M. Herbert, and M. Wingfield, 2012 Future outlook for *Pinus patula* in South Africa in the presence of the pitch canker fungus (*Fusarium circinatum*). South. J. For. Sci. 74: 203–210. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2012.741792
- Mitchell R. G., M. J. Wingfield, G. R. Hodge, E. T. Steenkamp, and T. A. Coutinho, 2013 The tolerance of *Pinus patula x Pinus tecunumanii*, and other pine hybrids, to *Fusarium circinatum* in greenhouse trials. New For. 44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-012-9355-3
- Mitchell R. G., M. J. Wingfield, E. T. Steenkamp, J. Roux, S. Verryn, *et al.*, 2014 Comparison of the tolerance of *Pinus patula* seedlings and established trees to infection by *Fusarium circinatum*. South. J. For. Sci. 76: 151–159. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2014.899061
- Mitić Z. S., S. Č. Jovanović, B. K. Zlatković, B. M. Nikolić, G. S. Stojanović, et al., 2017 Needle terpenes as chemotaxonomic markers in *Pinus*: subsections *Pinus* and *Pinaster*. Chem. Biodivers. 14. doi: 10.1002/cbdv.201600453
- Mueller O., S. Lightfoot, and A. Schroeder, 2004 RNA integrity number (RIN)–standardization of RNA quality control. Agil. Appl. note, Publ. 1–8.
- Neis F. A., F. de Costa, T. N. Füller, J. C. de Lima, K. C. da Silva Rodrigues-Corrêa, *et al.*, 2018 Biomass yield of resin in adult *Pinus elliottii Engelm*. trees is differentially regulated by environmental factors and biochemical effectors. Ind. Crops Prod. 118: 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2018.03.027
- Nel A., G. R. Hodge, K. E. Mongwaketsi, and A. Kanzler, 2014 Genetic parameters for *Fusarium circinatum* tolerance within openpollinated families of *Pinus patula* tested at screening facilities in South Africa and the USA. South. For. a J. For. Sci. 76: 145–150. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2014.916500



- Nier A., and J. Dobrza, 2018 The impact of climate change and strong anthropopressure on the annual growth of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris L.*) wood growing in eastern Poland. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9110661
- Nirenberg H. I., and K. O'Donnell, 1998 New *Fusarium* species and combinations within the *Gibberella fujikuroi* species complex. Mycologia 90: 434–458. https://doi.org/10.1080/00275514.1998.12026929
- Oh H.-W., C.-S. Yun, J. H. Jeon, J.-A. Kim, D.-S. Park, *et al.*, 2017 Conifer diterpene resin acids disrupt juvenile hormone-mediated endocrine regulation in the Indian meal moth *Plodia interpunctella*. J. Chem. Ecol. 43: 703–711.
- Paknikar S., and K. Fondekar, 2018 Recent developments in selected sesquiterpenes: Molecular rearrangements, biosynthesis, and structural relationship among congeners, p. 13 in *Terpenes and Terpenoids*, IntechOpen. http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.74998
- Park S., A. R. Park, S. Im, Y. J. Han, S. Lee, *et al.*, 2014 Developmentally regulated sesquiterpene production confers resistance to *colletotrichum gloeosporioides* in ripe pepper fruits. PLoS One 9: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109453
- Pearce R. B., 1996 Antimicrobial defences in the wood of living trees. New Phytol. 132: 203–233. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1996.tb01842.x
- Peter G. F., 2018 Breeding and engineering trees to accumulate high levels of terpene metabolites for plant defense and renewable chemicals. 9: 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01672
- Pham T., H. Chen, J. Yu, L. Dai, R. Zhang, *et al.*, 2014 The differential effects of the bluestain fungus *Leptographium qinlingensis* on monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes in the stem of Chinese white pine (*Pinus armandi*) saplings. Forests 5: 2730–2749. https://doi.org/10.3390/f5112730
- Phillips M. A., M. R. Wildung, D. C. Williams, D. C. Hyatt, and R. Croteau, 2003 cDNA isolation, functional expression, and characterization of (+)-α-pinene synthase and (-)-α-pinene synthase from loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*): Stereocontrol in pinene biosynthesis. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 411: 267–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9861(02)00746-4
- Piesik D., D. Pańka, K. J. Delaney, A. Skoczek, R. Lamparski, *et al.*, 2011 Cereal crop volatile organic compound induction after mechanical injury, beetle herbivory (*Oulema spp.*), or fungal infection (*Fusarium spp.*). J. Plant Physiol. 168: 878–886. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2010.11.010
- Ploetz R. C., 2006 *Fusarium* induced diseases of tropical, perennial crops. Phytopathology 96: 648–652. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-96-0648
- Presti L. Lo, D. Lanver, G. Schweizer, S. Tanaka, L. Liang, *et al.*, 2015 Fungal effectors and plant susceptibility. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 66: 513–545. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-043014-114623
- Quesada T., S. Lucas, K. Smith, and J. Smith, 2019 Response to temperature and virulence assessment of *Fusarium circinatum* isolates in the context of climate change. Forests 10:1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/f10010040
- Raitelaitytė K., A. Rutkauskas, and J. Žukauskienė, 2016 The fungal pathogens causing diseases in pines. Biologija 62: 276–283.



- Ralph S. G., H. Yueh, M. M. Friedmann, D. Aeschliman, J. A. Zeznik, *et al.*, 2006 Conifer defence against insects: microarray gene expression profiling of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) induced by mechanical wounding or feeding by spruce budworms (*Choristoneura occidentalis*) or white pine weevils (*Pissodes strobi*) reveals large-scale. Plant, Cell Environ. 29: 1545–1570. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2006.01532.x
- Ralph S. G., H. J. E. Chun, N. Kolosova, D. Cooper, C. Oddy, *et al.*, 2008 A conifer genomics resource of 200,000 spruce (*Picea spp.*) ESTs and 6,464 high-quality, sequence-finished full-length cDNAs for Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*). BMC Genomics 9: 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-9-484
- Reglinski T., J. T. Taylor, G. L. Northcott, A. Ah Chee, M. Spiers, *et al.*, 2017 Biochemical responses associated with induced resistance to *Colletotrichum acutatum* in *Pinus radiata* seedlings treated with methyl jasmonate and *Trichoderma* spp. For. Pathol. 47: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/efp.12350
- Reynolds G. J., and T. R. Gordon, 2019 Projecting monterey pine (*Pinus radiata*) populations over time in the presence of various representations of pitch canker disease, caused by *Fusarium circinatum*. Forests 10(5): 437
- Romón P., D. Aparicio, F. Palacios, J. C. Iturrondobeitia, T. Hance, *et al.*, 2017 Seasonal terpene variation in needles of *Pinus radiat*a (Pinales: *Pinaceae*) trees attacked by *Tomicus piniperda* (Coleoptera: *Scolytinae*) and the effect of limonene on beetle aggregation. J. Insect Sci. 17.
- Roth M., A. Hussain, J. A. Cale, and N. Erbilgin, 2018 Successful colonization of lodgepole pine trees by mountain pine beetle increased monoterpene production and exhausted carbohydrate reserves. J. Chem. Ecol. 44: 209–214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-017-0922-0
- Roux J., B. Eisenberg, M. J. Wingfield, A. Kanzler, A. Nel, *et al.*, 2007 Testing of selected South African *Pinus* hybrids and families for tolerance to the pitch canker pathogen, *Fusarium circinatum*. New For. 33: 109–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-006-9017-4
- Santana Q. C., M. P. A. Coetzee, B. D. Wingfield, and M. J. Wingfield, 2016 Nursery-linked plantation outbreaks and evidence for multiple introductions of the pitch canker pathogen *Fusarium circinatum* into South Africa. 1990: 357–368. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.12437
- Schiebe C., A. Hammerbacher, G. Birgersson, J. Witzell, P. E. Brodelius, *et al.*, 2012 Inducibility of chemical defenses in Norway spruce bark is correlated with unsuccessful mass attacks by the spruce bark beetle. Oecologia 170: 183–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-012-2298-8
- Schnee C., T. G. Kollner, M. Held, T. C. J. Turlings, J. Gershenzon, *et al.*, 2006 The products of a single maize sesquiterpene synthase form a volatile defense signal that attracts natural enemies of maize herbivores. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 103: 1129–1134. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0508027103
- Shalev T. J., M. M. S. S. Yuen, A. Gesell, A. Yuen, J. H. Russell, *et al.*, 2018 An annotated transcriptome of highly inbred *Thuja plicata* (*Cupressaceae*) and its utility for gene discovery of terpenoid biosynthesis and conifer defense. Tree Genet. genomes 14: 14–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11295-018-1248-y



- Slinski S. L., F. Zakharov, and T. R. Gordon, 2015 The effect of resin and monoterpenes on spore germination and growth in *Fusarium circinatum*. Phytopathology 105: 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-02-14-0027-R
- Steele C. L., J. Crock, J. Bohlmann, and R. Croteau, 1998 Sesquiterpene synthases from grand fir (*Abies grandis*). J. Biol. Chem. 273: 2078–2089. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.4.2078
- Storer A. J., T. R. Gordon, and S. L. Clark, 1998 Association of the pitch canker fungus, *Fusarium subglutinans f. sp. pini*, with Monterey pine seeds and seedlings in California. Plant Pathol. 47: 649–656. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3059.1998.00288.x
- Swett C. L., B. Porter, G. Fourie, E. T. Steenkamp, T. R. Gordon, *et al.*, 2014 Association of the pitch canker pathogen *Fusarium circinatum* with grass hosts in commercial pine production areas of South Africa. South. For. a J. For. Sci. 76: 161–166. https://doi.org/10.2989/20702620.2014.916087
- Swett C. L., S. C. Kirkpatrick, and T. Gordon, 2015 Evidence for a hemibiotrophic association of the pitch canker pathogen, *Fusarium circinatum*, with *Pinus radiata*. Plant Dis. 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-03-15-0270-RE
- Swett C. L., G. J. Reynolds, and T. R. Gordon, 2018 Infection without wounding and symptomless shoot colonization of *Pinus radiata* by *Fusarium circinatum*, the cause of pitch canker. For. Pathol. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/efp.12422
- Trapp S., and R. Croteau, 2001 Defensive resin biosynthesis in conifers. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 52: 689–724. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.52.1.689
- Trifinopoulos J., L. T. Nguyen, A. von Haeseler, and B. Q. Minh, 2016 W-IQ-TREE: a fast online phylogenetic tool for maximum likelihood analysis. Nucleic Acids Res. 44: W232–W235. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw256
- Trindade H., I. Sena, and A. C. Figueiredo, 2016 Characterization of α-pinene synthase gene in *Pinus pinaster* and *P. pinea* in vitro cultures and differential gene expression following *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus* inoculation. Physiol. Plant. 38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-016-2159-x
- Uribe S., J. Ramirez, and A. Peña, 1985 Effects of beta-pinene on yeast membrane functions. J. Bacteriol. 161: 1195–1200.
- Viljoen A., 1994 First report of *Fusarium subglutinans f. sp. pini* on pine seedlings in South Africa. Plant Dis. 78: 309. https://doi.org/10.1094/PD-78-0309
- Visser E. A., J. L. Wegrzyn, E. T. Steenkamp, A. A. Myburg, and S. Naidoo, 2015 Combined *de novo* and genome guided assembly and annotation of the *Pinus patula* juvenile shoot transcriptome. BMC Genomics 16: 1057. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-2277-7
- Visser E. A., J. L. Wegrzyn, A. A. Myburg, and S. Naidoo, 2018 Defence transcriptome assembly and pathogenesis related gene family analysis in *Pinus tecunumanii* (low elevation). BMC Genomics 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-5015-0
- Wang Y., G. H. Gong, C. X. Wei, L. Liang, and B. Zhang, 2014 Recombinant expressed vector pET32a (+) S constructed by ligation independent cloning. Molecules 19: 16179–16189. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules191016179
- Watt M. S., R. J. Ganley, D. J. Kriticos, and L. K. Manning, 2011 Dothistroma needle blight



and pitch canker: the current and future potential distribution of two important diseases of *Pinus* species. Can. J. For. Res. 41: 412–424. https://doi.org/10.1139/X10-204

- Wedge D. E., J. C. G. Galindo, and F. A. Macías, 2000 Fungicidal activity of natural and synthetic sesquiterpene lactone analogs. Phytochemistry 53: 747–757. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(00)00008-X
- Wen L., R. Shi, J. Wang, Y. Zhao, H. Zhang, *et al.*, 2018 Transcriptome analyses to reveal genes involved in terpene biosynthesis in resin producing pine tree *Pinus kesiya var*. *langbianensis*. BioResources 2020: 1852–1871.
- Wingfield M., B. Wingfield, T. Coutinho, A. Viljoen, H. Britz, *et al.*, 1999 Pitch canker: A South African perspective. Curr. potential impacts Pitch Canker Radiata Pine. Proc. IMPACT Monterey Work. Monterey, California. 30 November to 3 December 1998. 62– 69.
- Wingfield M. J., A. Hammerbacher, R. J. Ganley, E. T. Steenkamp, T. R. Gordon, *et al.*, 2008 Pitch canker caused by *Fusarium circinatum*, A growing threat to pine plantations and forests worldwide. Australas. Plant Pathol. 37: 319–334. https://doi.org/10.1071/AP08036
- Wingfield B. D., E. T. Steenkamp, Q. C. Santana, M. P. A. Coetzee, S. Bam, *et al.*, 2012 First fungal genome sequence from Africa: A preliminary analysis. S. Afr. J. Sci. 108: 1–9. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajs.v108i1/2.537
- Woranoot K., R. Buaruang, K. Aranyakanon, K. Ratanasut, A. Kongbangkerd, et al., 2019 Fusarium solani upregulated sesquiterpene synthase expression, sesquiterpene production and allelopathic activity in Piper betle L. 26: 290–299.
- Wyk S. Van, B. D. Wingfield, L. De Vos, Q. C. Santana, N. A. Van der Merwe, *et al.*, 2018 Multiple independent origins for a subtelomeric locus associated with growth rate in *Fusarium circinatum*. IMA Fungus 9: 27–36. https://doi.org/10.5598/imafungus.2018.09.01.03
- Zerbe P., and J. Bohlmann, 2014 Bioproducts, biofuels, and perfumes: Conifer terpene synthases and their potential for metabolic engineering. Phytochem. Biosynthesis, Funct. Appl. Recent Adv. Phytochem. vol 44. 85–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-04045-5
- Zerbe P., and J. Bohlmann, 2015 Plant diterpene synthases: Exploring modularity and metabolic diversity for bioengineering. Trends Biotechnol. 33: 419–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2015.04.006
- Zhao T., P. Krokene, J. Hu, E. Christiansen, N. Björklund, *et al.*, 2011 Induced terpene accumulation in Norway spruce inhibits bark beetle colonization in a dose-dependent manner. PLoS One 6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026649
- Zulak K. G., and J. Bohlmann, 2010 Terpenoid biosynthesis and specialized vascular cells of conifer defense. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 52: 86–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7909.2010.00910.x





# Chapter 3

## **Concluding Remarks**



### 3.1 Concluding remarks

Comparison of orthologous terpene synthase gene expression induced by infection in *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii* indicate that qualitative and/or quantitative variations in terpene profiles could contribute to *F. circinatum* susceptibility. The potential link between defensive terpene regulation and *F. circinatum* susceptibility has been more thoroughly studied in *Pinus radiata*, as this species is of global agricultural importance and is especially susceptible to the pitch canker and *Fusarium*-wilt (Wingfield *et al.* 2008; Carrasco *et al.* 2017).

*Pinus patula*'s terpene defensive regulation appears initially inefficient at 3dpi, compared to that of *P. tecunumanii*. Of the nine putative terpene synthase genes identified as differentially expressed by *P. patula* in response to *F. circinatum*, only one shows altered expression at 3dpi (Figure 2.5). This gene, 'Pipt31HSn\_DN236119\_c0\_g2', was putatively annotated as an alpha-farnesene synthase, shows the most upregulation (log<sub>2</sub>(Fold Change) > 1.0). Inversely, *P. tecunumanii* has responded to *F. circinatum* at 3dpi by upregulating the expression of four genes. Interestingly, all genes identified were upregulated at 3dpi were sesquiterpene synthases (Figure 2.5). None of the annotated genes were observed to have been down-regulated (log<sub>2</sub>(Fold Change) <-1) at 3dpi. In disaccord with *P. tecunumanii*, *P. patula*'s defensive terpene synthase regulation is noticeably latent at 3dpi. Therefore, we hypothesise that the terpene metabolomic response by *P. patula* may be inadequate during the early stages of infection, underpinning its susceptibility.

In a study similar to this one, Lombardero *et al.* (2019) compared terpene compositions of *P. radiata* to those of relatively resistant *Pinus pinaster*, to identify potential differences that could underly susceptibility. They observed these two species to share similar constituent concentrations of monoterpenes and diterpenes (Flø *et al.* 2018; Lombardero *et al.* 2019). However, the concentrations of mono- and diterpenes induced by *F. circinatum* were shown to be significantly higher in *P. radiata* than in *P. pinaster* (Lombardero *et al.* 2019). Interestingly, both constituent and induced sesquiterpene concentrations as a potential marker of susceptibility (Lombardero *et al.* 2019). Sesquiterpenes observed in significantly higher concentrations in *P. pinaster* were beta-myrcene, camphene, and most remarkably, alpha-humulene (Lombardero *et al.* 2019).



Each host-pathogen interaction has its own set of complicating variables to consider. For instance, it has been observed that downregulation of terpenoid biosynthesis could contribute to host resistance, as the non-volatile components of oleoresin could serve as a carbon source for the pathogen (Martín-Rodrigues *et al.* 2013; Gordon *et al.* 2015; Lo Presti *et al.* 2015) Studies found that quantitative differences in terpenes do not appear to correlate with host resistance either, in fact, *F. circinatum* colonises resin ducts (Marei *et al.* 2012; Martín-Rodrigues *et al.* 2013; Wen *et al.* 2018). However, even if the regulation of terpene synthesis is not the principal determinant of resistance, the association may indirectly assist with the selection of resistant genotypes in the future. This is particularly true as the focus of this study has been exclusively the *in silico* analysis of the terpene synthase genes which are differentially regulated in response to infection with *F. circinatum*, and only the induced defensive response prompted by this phytopathogen was observed.

### 3.2 Future work and significance

In addition to assessing terpene concentrations of *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii*, research into the contribution by broader biochemical defences to susceptibility is required (Gordon *et al.* 2015; Reglinski *et al.* 2017; Celedon and Bohlmann 2019). It is important to build on our observations at a transcriptional level by performing metabolic analysis, to determine to what extent the biochemistry of these two species differ. The *in vivo* characterisation of annotated terpene synthases identified herein will advance our understanding of their products, and ultimately, their contribution to defence against *F. circinatum*.

The initiation and regulation of defensive biochemical pathways is complex, and their efficacy can affect host susceptibility to colonisation by pathogens (Hu *et al.* 2018; Neis *et al.* 2018). Understanding this will involve the functional characterisation of numerous upstream enzymes, such as cytochrome P450-dependent monooxygenases (Trindade *et al.* 2016; Wen *et al.* 2018). Further comparative analysis of other important defence pathways in *Pinus* spp. could reveal important transcriptional divergences between *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii*. Visser *et al.* (2018) assessed the contribution of pathogenesis-related genes that are differentially expressed by *P. patula* and *P. tecunumanii* in response to infection by *F. circinatum*.



Knowledge of terpene-based defence mechanisms that effectively limit *F. circinatum* infection could contribute to the reduction of the impact on *P. patula*. Genetic engineering and targeted breeding have already shown the potential to increase the levels of constitutively produced terpenes, yet at a cost to carbon efficiency (Peter 2018). Therefore, it would be preferential to target the increased expression of particular terpene synthases, minimising the overall energetic investment (Huber *et al.* 2004; Zerbe and Bohlmann 2014, 2015; Paknikar and Fondekar 2018; Celedon and Bohlmann 2019).

### **3.3 References**

- Carrasco A., J. L. Wegrzyn, R. Durán, M. Fernández, A. Donoso, *et al.*, 2017 Expression profiling in *Pinus radiata* infected with *Fusarium circinatum*. Tree Genet. Genomes 13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11295-017-1125-0
- Celedon J. M., and J. Bohlmann, 2019 Oleoresin defenses in conifers: chemical diversity, terpene synthases and limitations of oleoresin defense under climate change. New Phytol. nph.15984. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15984
- Flø D., H. R. Norli, B. Økland, and P. Krokene, 2018 Successful reproduction and pheromone production by the spruce bark beetle in evolutionary naïve spruce hosts with familiar terpenoid defences. Agric. For. Entomol. https://doi.org/10.1111/afe.12280
- Gordon T. R., C. L. Swett, and M. J. Wingfield, 2015 Management of *Fusarium* diseases affecting conifers. Crop Prot. 73: 28–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2015.02.018
- Hu B., H. Sakakibara, M. Kojima, Y. Takebayashi, J. Bußkamp, *et al.*, 2018 Consequences of *Sphaeropsis* tip blight disease for the phytohormone profile and antioxidative metabolism of its pine host. Plant Cell Environ. 41: 737–754. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13118
- Huber D. P. W., S. Ralph, and J. Bohlmann, 2004 Genomic hardwiring and phenotypic plasticity of terpenoid-based defenses in conifers. J. Chem. Ecol. 30: 2399–2418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-004-7942-2
- Keeling C. I., S. Weisshaar, S. G. Ralph, S. Jancsik, B. Hamberger, *et al.*, 2011 Transcriptome mining, functional characterization, and phylogeny of a large terpene synthase gene family in spruce (*Picea spp.*). BMC Plant Biol. 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-11-



43

- Lombardero M. J., A. Solla, and M. P. Ayres, 2019 Forest Ecology and Management Pine defenses against the pitch canker disease are modulated by a native insect newly associated with the invasive fungus. For. Ecol. Manage. 437: 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.01.041
- Marei G. I. K., M. A. A. Rasoul, and S. A. M. Abdelgaleil, 2012 Comparative antifungal activities and biochemical effects of monoterpenes on plant pathogenic fungi. Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 103: 56–61.
- Martín-Rodrigues N., S. Espinel, J. Sanchez-Zabala, A. Ortíz, C. González-Murua, et al., 2013 Spatial and temporal dynamics of the colonization of *Pinus radiata* by *Fusarium circinatum*, of *conidiophora* development in the pith and of traumatic resin duct formation. New Phytol. 198: 1215–1227. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12222
- Neis F. A., F. de Costa, T. N. Füller, J. C. de Lima, K. C. da Silva Rodrigues-Corrêa, *et al.*, 2018 Biomass yield of resin in adul*t Pinus elliottii Engelm*. trees is differentially regulated by environmental factors and biochemical effectors. Ind. Crops Prod. 118: 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2018.03.027
- Paknikar S., and K. Fondekar, 2018 Recent developments in selected sesquiterpenes: molecular rearrangements, biosynthesis, and structural relationship among congeners, p. 13 in *Terpenes and Terpenoids*, IntechOpen. http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.74998
- Peter G. F., 2018 Breeding and engineering trees to accumulate high levels of terpene metabolites for plant defense and renewable chemicals. 9: 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01672
- Presti L. Lo, D. Lanver, G. Schweizer, S. Tanaka, L. Liang, *et al.*, 2015 Fungal effectors and plant susceptibility. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 66: 513–545. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevarplant-043014-114623
- Reglinski T., J. T. Taylor, G. L. Northcott, A. Ah Chee, M. Spiers, *et al.*, 2017 Biochemical responses associated with induced resistance to *Colletotrichum acutatum* in *Pinus radiata* seedlings treated with methyl jasmonate and *Trichoderma spp*. For. Pathol. 47: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/efp.12350
- Steele C. L., J. Crock, J. Bohlmann, and R. Croteau, 1998 Sesquiterpene synthases from grand



fir (*Abies grandis*). J. Biol. Chem. 273: 2078–2089. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.4.2078

- Trindade H., I. Sena, and A. C. Figueiredo, 2016 Characterization of α-pinene synthase gene in *Pinus pinaster* and *P. pinea* in vitro cultures and differential gene expression following *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus* inoculation. Acta Physiol. Plant. 38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-016-2159-x
- Visser E. A., J. L. Wegrzyn, A. A. Myburg, and S. Naidoo, 2018 Defence transcriptome assembly and pathogenesis related gene family analysis in *Pinus tecunumanii* (low elevation). BMC Genomics 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-5015-0
- Wen L., R. Shi, J. Wang, Y. Zhao, H. Zhang, *et al.*, 2018 Transcriptome analyses to reveal genes involved in terpene biosynthesis in resin producing pine tree *Pinus kesiya var*. *langbianensis*. BioResources 2020: 1852–1871.
- Wingfield M. J., A. Hammerbacher, R. J. Ganley, E. T. Steenkamp, T. R. Gordon, *et al.*, 2008
  Pitch canker caused by *Fusarium circinatum* A growing threat to pine plantations and forests worldwide. Australas. Plant Pathol. 37: 319–334. https://doi.org/10.1071/AP08036
- Zerbe P., and J. Bohlmann, 2014 Bioproducts, biofuels, and perfumes: Conifer terpene synthases and their potential for metabolic engineering. Phytochem. – Biosynthesis, Funct. Appl. Recent Adv. Phytochem. vol 44. 85–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-04045-5
- Zerbe P., and J. Bohlmann, 2015 Plant diterpene synthases: Exploring modularity and metabolic diversity for bioengineering. Trends Biotechnol. 33: 419–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2015.04.006



## **Supplementary Material**



### **Supplementary Table**

**Table S1:** Extended list of six-month-old *Pinus* seedlings, obtained from Dr. Nicky Jones (Sappi Forests, Shaw Research Centre, Howick, KZN). Counts post two-week acclimatisation period.

C Ilin a	Total County 1709
Seedling	
Pinus patula pure families	
P9- P. patula	98
P17-P. patula	192
P38- P. patula	146
P42- P. patula	200
Total P. patula: 746	
Pinus tecunumanii	
Low-Elevation (LE) seed mix	
PEC 0076- P. tecunumanii	814
Total P. tecunumanii: 814	
P. patula x P. tecunumanii	
hybrid open-pollinated families	
PPTL024.3-Hybrid	10
PPTL017.4-Hybrid	10
PPTL021.1-Hybrid	10
PPTL027.3-Hybrid	9
PPTL004.3-Hybrid	10
PPTL015.2-Hybrid	10
PPTL026.3-Hybrid	10
PPTL010.3-Hybrid	10
PPTL027.2-Hybrid	9
PPTL025.3-Hybrid	10
PPTL010.4-Hybrid	10
PPTL008.2-Hybrid	10
PPTL022.2-Hybrid	10
PPTL001.1-Hybrid	10
PPTL017.3-Hybrid	10
Total hybrid seedlings:148	



### **Supplementary Figures**





Figure S1: Phylogenetic analysis of putative terpene synthases in numerous Conifer spp. The putative terpene synthase genes are significantly differentially expressed in the inoculated seedlings at least one of the two timepoints of interest are coloured (red: *P. patula*, blue; *P. tecunumanii*). These were those displayed altered expression, compared to the mock inoculated control group ( $-0.70 < \log_2(\text{Fold Change}) > 0.70$ ). Red blocks indicate subset of phylogeny used in final annotation of differentially expressed genes. Other conifer genes were previously annotated as terpene synthase genes (Shalev et al. 2018). All internal nodes are supported by >80% bootstrapping. Red diamonds indicate the continuum of the phylogeny across the divide.











Pnte25HSn\_TRINITY\_DN58878\_c0\_g1





Pnte25HSn\_TRINITY\_DN76624\_c2\_g1

Pnte25LS\_TRINITY\_DN104787\_c0\_g1



Pnte25LS\_TRINITY\_DN110717\_c1\_g1



Pnte25LSn\_TRINITY\_DN87317\_c0\_g2











Pnte31HS\_TRINITY\_DN100001\_c0\_g1



Pnte31HSn\_TRINITY\_DN77088\_c0\_g1



\*

Pnte31HSn\_TRINITY\_DN77088\_c0\_g5



Pnte31HSn\_TRINITY\_DN65732\_c0\_g1











Pipt31LSn\_TRINITY\_DN290709\_c3\_g3



Pnte31HSn\_TRINITY\_DN84476\_c0\_g4



Pipt31HSnc\_TRINITY\_DN93168\_c0\_g1



Pipt31LS\_TRINITY\_DN308945\_c1\_g1









Pnte31HS\_TRINITY\_DN103161\_c1\_g4



Pnte31LSn\_TRINITY\_DN95880\_c0\_g2







Figure S2: Boxplots of expression for putative terpene synthase genes in each sample set. Y-axes represent transcripts per million (TPM), X-axes indicate mock-inoculated (mock), and omission represent inoculated (inoc) samples at 3- and 7-days post inoculation (dpi). Genes are arranged to correspond to the phylogenetic tree in Figure 2.5. Letters represent adjusted p-values from a Tukey HSD test, with shared letters representing adjusted p > 0.95. Stars represent significantly differentially regulated in the inoculated samples when compared to the mock inoculated. (Pnte, *P. tecunumanii*: Pipt, *P. patula*).